ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS INC Form 10-Q November 03, 2014 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One)

X QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 26, 2014

or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from ______ to _____

Commission file number 000-50646

Ultra Clean Holdings, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of

61-1430858 (I.R.S. Employer

incorporation or organization)

Identification No.)

26462 Corporate Avenue, Hayward, California (Address of principal executive offices)

94545 (Zip Code)

(510) 576-4400

Registrant s telephone number, including area code

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer "

Accelerated filer

x

Non-accelerated filer "(Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company "Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes "No x

Number of shares outstanding of the issuer s common stock as of October 24, 2014: 29,532,513

ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS, INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
ITEM 1.	UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	3
ITEM 2.	MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND	
	RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	15
ITEM 3.	QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK	19
ITEM 4.	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	19
	PART II. OTHER INFORMATION	
ITEM 1.	<u>LEGAL PROCEEDINGS</u>	20
ITEM 1A.	RISK FACTORS	20
ITEM 2.	UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS	29
ITEM 3.	<u>DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES</u>	29
ITEM 4.	MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES	29
ITEM 5.	OTHER INFORMATION	29
ITEM 6.	<u>EXHIBITS</u>	29
SIGNATII	RES	31

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Financial Statements

ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited; in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

	Sept	tember 26, 2014	Dec	ember 27, 2013
ASSETS				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	75,147	\$	60,415
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of \$121 and \$5, respectively		57,459		67,450
Inventory		55,353		63,942
Deferred tax assets		3,726		4,071
Prepaid expenses and other		6,389		4,581
Total current assets		198,074		200,459
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net		8,066		8,534
Goodwill		55,918		55,918
Purchased intangibles, net		18,045		21,708
Deferred tax assets		3,876		5,341
Other non-current assets		374		583
Total assets	\$	284,353	\$	292,543
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS E Current liabilities:	QUITY			
	\$	27.057	\$	27 705
Bank borrowings	Ф	37,857	Ф	37,705
Accounts payable		42,444 5,071		53,962 5,730
Accrued compensation and related benefits Deferred rent, current portion		287		262
Other current liabilities		2,739		2,385
Other current habilities		2,739		2,363
Total current liabilities		88,398		100,044
Long-term debt		9,635		17,421
Deferred rent and other liabilities		2,921		3,149
Total liabilities		100,954		120,614

Edgar Filing: ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS INC - Form 10-Q

Commitments and contingencies (See Note 7)

Stockholders equity:					
Preferred stock \$0.001 par value, 10,000,000 authorized; none outstanding					
Common stock \$0.001 par value, 90,000,000 authorized; 29,530,847 and					
28,694,762 shares issued and outstanding, in 2014 and 2013, respectively		30		29	
Additional paid-in capital		151,520		147,876	
Common shares held in treasury, at cost, 601,944 shares in 2014 and 2013,					
respectively		(3,337)		(3,337)	
Retained earnings		35,186		27,361	
Total stockholders equity		183,399		171,929	
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$	284,353	\$	292,543	

(See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements)

ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited; in thousands, except per share data)

	Three months ended			Nine months ended				
	September 26, September 27,		_		Sep			
)14		2013		2014		2013
Sales	\$ 11	7,041	\$	107,183	\$ 3	393,942	\$	317,754
Cost of goods sold	10	6,734		91,350	3	339,172		271,995
Gross profit	1	0,307		15,833		54,770		45,759
Operating expenses:								
Research and development		1,806		1,410		5,371		4,156
Sales and marketing		2,493		2,561		7,746		7,344
General and administrative		9,971		8,471		28,395		26,619
Total operating expenses	1	4,270		12,442		41,512		38,119
Income (loss) from operations	(3,963)		3,391		13,258		7,640
Interest and other income (expense), net		(437)		(968)		(1,520)		(2,656)
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes	(-	4,400)		2,423		11,738		4,984
Income tax provision		862		375		3,913		931
Net income (loss)	\$ (5,262)	\$	2,048	\$	7,825	\$	4,053
Net income (loss) per share:								
Basic	\$	(0.18)	\$	0.07	\$	0.27	\$	0.14
Diluted	\$	(0.18)	\$	0.07	\$	0.26	\$	0.14
Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share:								
Basic	2	9,477		28,451		29,242		28,265
Diluted	2	9,477		28,979		29,912		28,879

(See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements)

ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited; in thousands)

	Nine mo September 26, 2014	nths ended September 27, 2013
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Net income	\$ 7,825	\$ 4,053
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	2,248	2,349
Amortization of finite lived intangibles	3,663	4,467
Amortization of debt issuance costs	366	367
Stock-based compensation	3,169	3,511
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation		(644)
Loss from disposal of fixed assets		329
Changes in assets and liabilities:		
Accounts receivable	9,991	346
Inventory	8,589	4,516
Prepaids and other	(1,808)	(296)
Deferred income taxes	1,810	747
Other non-current assets	209	
Accounts payable	(11,375)	14,324
Accrued compensation and related benefits	(659)	(450)
Income taxes payable		120
Other liabilities	151	
Net cash provided by operating activities	24,179	33,739
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Purchases of equipment and leasehold improvements	(2,066)	(2,288)
Disposal of equipment and leasehold improvements	143	96
Net cash used in investing activities	(1,923)	(2,192)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Proceeds from revolving credit facility	35,500	36,000
Principal payments on revolving credit facility	(36,000)	
Principal payments on term debt	(7,500)	(55,502)
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation	, , ,	644
Employees taxes paid upon vesting of restricted stock units	(1,357)	(1,268)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock	1,833	209
Net cash used in financing activities	(7,524)	(19,917)

Edgar Filing: ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS INC - Form 10-Q

Net increase in cash	\$	14,732	\$	11,630
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		60,415		54,311
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$	75,147	\$	65,941
Supplemental items: Cash paid during the period:				
Income taxes paid	\$	2,942	\$	1,070
Income tax refunds	\$	1,356	\$	22
Interest	\$	1,625	\$	1,789
Non-cash activities:				
Fixed asset purchased included in accounts payable	\$	37	\$	39
(See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements)				

ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization Ultra Clean Holdings, Inc. (Ultra Clean or the Company) was founded in November 2002 for the purpose of acquiring Ultra Clean Technology Systems and Service Inc. Ultra Clean Technology Systems and Service, Inc. was founded in 1991 by Mitsubishi Corporation and was operated as a subsidiary of Mitsubishi until November 2002, when it was acquired by Ultra Clean. Ultra Clean became a publicly traded company in March 2004. In June 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of Sieger Engineering, Inc. to better enhance its position as a subsystem supplier to the semiconductor, research, flat panel, energy and medical equipment industries. Ultra Clean Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd and Ultra Clean Micro-Electronics Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. were established in 2005 and 2007, respectively, to facilitate the Company s operations in China. Ultra Clean Asia Pacific, Pte, Ltd. (Singapore) was established in fiscal year 2008 to facilitate the Company s operations in Singapore. In July 2012, the Company acquired American Integration Technologies LLC (AIT) primarily to provide additional manufacturing capabilities and expertise while adding to the Company s existing customer base in the semiconductor and medical markets. The Company operates in one reportable segment. See Note 8 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company is a leading developer and supplier of critical subsystems for Original Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs) primarily in the semiconductor, industrial, flat panel, medical, energy/research and consumer industries. The Company develops, designs, prototypes, engineers, manufactures and tests systems and subsystems which are highly specialized and integral to the Company s customer products.

The Company provides its customers with complete solutions that combine its expertise in design, testing, component characterization and highly flexible global manufacturing operations with excellence in quality control and financial stability. The Company s global presence and supply chain management helps the Company to drive down total manufacturing costs, reduce design-to-delivery cycle times and maintain high quality standards for the Company s customers. The Company believes that these characteristics provide global solutions for the Company s customers growing product demands.

The Company ships a majority of its products to U.S. registered customers with locations both in the U.S. and outside the U.S. In addition to U.S. manufacturing, the Company manufactures products in its Asian facilities to support local and U.S. based customers. The Company conducts its operating activities primarily through its wholly owned subsidiaries: Ultra Clean Technology Systems and Service, Inc., AIT LLC, Ultra Clean Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Ultra Clean Micro-Electronics Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and Ultra Clean Asia Pacific, Pte Ltd. (Singapore). The Company s sales relating to products shipped from our international locations represented 30.7% and 33.1% of total sales for the three months ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013, respectively, and 29.5% and 28.2% of total sales for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013, respectively. See Note 8 to the Company s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for further information about the Company s geographic areas.

Basis of Presentation The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). This financial information reflects all adjustments which are, in the opinion of the Company, normal, recurring and necessary to present fairly the

statements of financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the dates and periods presented. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in our annual financial statements, prepared in accordance with GAAP, have been condensed or omitted. The Company s December 27, 2013, balance sheet data were derived from its audited financial statements as of that date.

Principles of Consolidation The Company s condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and all intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company uses a 52-53 week fiscal year ending on the Friday nearest December 31. All references to quarters refer to fiscal quarters and all references to years refer to fiscal years.

Foreign Currency Translation The Company has reviewed its non-U.S. subsidiaries (of which all of its non-U.S. asset base resides in Asia) that operate in a local currency environment to determine their functional currency by examining how and in what currency each subsidiary generates cash through billings and cash receipts and how and in what currency the subsidiary expends cash through payment of its vendors and payment of its workforce. Also, these subsidiaries individual assets and liabilities that are primarily denominated in the local foreign currency are examined for their impact on the Company s cash flows. All have been determined to have the U.S. dollar as its functional currency. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in interest and other income (expense), net.

Use of Accounting Estimates The presentation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates and assumptions include reserves on accounts receivable and inventory, valuation of deferred tax assets and impairment of goodwill and other long-lived assets. The Company bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other assumptions that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances. However, future events are subject to change and the best estimates and judgments routinely require adjustment. Actual amounts may differ from those estimates.

Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties The Company operates in a dynamic industry and, accordingly, can be affected by a variety of factors. For example, any of the following areas could have a negative effect on the Company in terms of its future financial position, results of operations or cash flows: the general state of the U.S. and world economies, the highly cyclical nature of the industries the Company serves; the loss or bankruptcy of any customers within the Company s small customer base; ability to obtain additional financing; inability to meet certain debt covenants; failure to successfully integrate completed acquisitions; ineffectiveness in pursuing acquisition opportunities; regulatory changes; fundamental changes in the technology underlying semiconductor, flat panel, solar and medical device manufacturing processes or manufacturing equipment; the hiring, training and retention of key employees; successful and timely completion of product design efforts; and new product design introductions by competitors.

Concentration of Credit Risk Financial instruments which subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company sells its products primarily to semiconductor capital equipment manufacturers in the United States. The Company continually performs credit evaluations of its customers financial condition and, if necessary, may require collateral from its customers.

6

Significant sales to customers The Company s most significant customers (having accounted for 10% or more of sales) and their related sales as a percentage of total sales were as follows:

	Three me	onths ended	Nine mo	onths ended
	September 26, 2014	September 27, 2013	September 26, 2014	September 27, 2013
Lam Research Corporation	39.3%	37.4%	36.0%	33.2%
Applied Materials, Inc.	20.9	32.9	22.0	33.1
ASM International	13.9	10.8	17.0	13.4
Total	74.1%	81.1%	75.0%	79.7%

Three customers accounts receivable balances: Applied Materials, Inc., Lam Research Corporation and ASM International were individually greater than 10% of accounts receivable as of September 26, 2014, and, in the aggregate, represented approximately 74% of accounts receivable. Three customers accounts receivable balances: Applied Materials, Inc., Lam Research Corporation and ASM International, were individually greater than 10% of accounts receivable as of December 27, 2013 and, in the aggregate, represented approximately 82% of accounts receivable.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The Company's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and bank borrowings. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximates their fair value because of their short-term nature.

The accounting guidance for fair value measurements prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value in the following hierarchy:

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

Level 2 Observable inputs other than the Level 1 prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in active markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of assets or liabilities,

Level 3 Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The Company s only financial asset measured at fair value on a recurring basis is an overnight sweep account invested in money market funds with maturities of less than 90 days from purchase and is thus classified as cash and cash equivalents on the Company s balance sheet. These money market funds had a carrying value and fair value of \$9.6 million at September 26, 2014 based on Level 1 inputs. The fair value of the Company s long term debt was based on level 2 inputs and fair value was determined using quoted prices for similar liabilities in inactive markets. The fair value of the Company s outstanding borrowings under the Company s revolving credit facility was based on level 2 inputs and fair value was determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, specifically, discounted cash flows of expected payments at current borrowing rates. The Company s carrying value approximates fair value for the Company s long term debt and revolving credit facility.

Financial assets measured at fair value are summarized below (in thousands):

	Quoted Prices			
	in			
	Active		Quoted Prices in	
	Markets	Significant Other	Active Markets fo	rSignificant Other
	for	Observable	Identical	Observable
	Identical Assets	Inputs	Assets	Inputs
	Septemb	per 26, 2014	Decemb	er 27, 2013
	(level			
	1)	(level 2)	(level 1)	(level 2)
Money market fund deposits (1)	\$ 9,563	\$	\$ 13,414	\$

(1) Included in cash and cash equivalents on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short-term maturities of the cash equivalents.

Inventories Inventories are stated at the lower of standard cost (which approximates actual cost on a first-in, first-out basis) or market. The Company evaluates the valuation of all inventories, including raw materials, work-in-process, finished goods and spare parts on a periodic basis. Obsolete inventory or inventory in excess of management s estimated usage is written-down to its estimated market value less costs to sell, if less than its cost. Inherent in the estimates of market value are management s estimates related to economic trends, future demand for products, and technological obsolescence of the Company s products.

Inventory write downs inherently involve judgments as to assumptions about expected future demand and the impact of market conditions on those assumptions. Although the Company believes that the assumptions it used in estimating inventory write downs are reasonable, significant changes in any one of the assumptions in the future could produce a significantly different result. There can be no assurances that future events and changing market conditions will not result in significant increases in inventory write downs. See Note 9 Subsequent Events for a discussion regarding inventory adjustments recorded in the third quarter of 2014 in connection with a relatively new customer that declared bankruptcy in October 2014.

Equipment and Leasehold Improvements Equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost, or, in the case of equipment under capital leases, the present value of future minimum lease payments at inception of the related lease. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the terms of the leases. Useful lives range from three to fifteen years.

Product Warranty The Company provides warranties on its products for a period of up to two years and provides for warranty costs at the time of sale based on historical activity. The determination of such provisions requires the Company to make estimates of product return rates and expected costs to repair or replace the products under warranty. If actual return rates and/or repair and replacement costs differ significantly from these estimates, adjustments to cost of sales may be required in future periods. Components of the reserve for warranty costs consisted of the following (in thousands):

	Nine months ended				
	September 26, 2014	-	mber 27, 2013		
Beginning balance	\$ 101	\$	152		
Change in reserve	97		70		
Warranty costs incurred in the current period	(85)		(119)		
Ending balance	\$ 113	\$	103		

Income Taxes The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, under which deferred taxes are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect during the years in which the basis differences reverse. Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements, which will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future. In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. In projecting future taxable income, we begin with historical results and incorporate assumptions about the amount of future state, federal, and foreign pretax operating income adjusted for items that do not have tax consequences. The assumptions about future taxable income require significant judgment and are consistent with the plans and estimates we are using to manage the underlying businesses. In evaluating the objective evidence that historical results provide, we consider three years of cumulative operating income (loss). A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

During the third quarter of 2014, the Company weighed both positive and negative evidence and concluded that a full valuation allowance on its California and Oregon deferred tax assets in the amount of \$1.6 million was appropriate. Among the negative evidence was the declaration of bankruptcy of a key customer during the third quarter of 2014 and its impact on the Company s ability to realize the benefit of the net operating losses in those states. As such, management concluded that it was not more likely than not that the California and Oregon deferred tax assets will be realized. As of September 26, 2014, the Company also maintained a full valuation allowance of \$0.6 million on one of its China subsidiaries as the Company continues to believe it is not more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will be realized. In order to reverse a valuation allowance, accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America suggest that the Company review the cumulative income/loss in recent years as well as determine the Company s ability to generate sufficient future taxable income to realize the Company s net deferred tax assets. The Company had a total valuation allowance on deferred tax assets in the amount of \$2.2 million and \$0.6 million as of September 26, 2014 and December 27, 2013, respectively.

Income tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold to be recognized. Income tax positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are recognized in the first subsequent financial

reporting period in which that threshold is met. Previously recognized tax positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are derecognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is no longer met. The Company recognizes potential accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the consolidated statements of income as income tax expense. The calculation of tax liabilities involves significant judgment in estimating the impact of uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws. Resolution of these uncertainties in a manner inconsistent with the Company s expectations could have a material impact on its results of operations and financial position. Management believes that it has adequately provided for any adjustments that may result from these examinations; however, the outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted with certainty.

The determination of the Company s tax provision is subject to judgments and estimates.

Revenue Recognition Product revenue is generally recorded upon shipment. In arrangements which specify title transfer upon delivery, revenue is not recognized until the product is delivered. The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, shipment has occurred, price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. If the Company has not substantially completed a product or fulfilled the terms of a sales agreement at the time of shipment, revenue recognition is deferred until fulfillment. The Company s standard arrangement for its customers includes a signed purchase order or contract, no right of return of delivered products and no customer acceptance provisions. The Company assesses collectability based on the credit worthiness of the customer and past transaction history. The Company continually performs credit evaluations of its customers and, if necessary, may require collateral from its customers.

Research and Development Costs Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Net Income (loss) per Share Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and common equivalent shares from dilutive stock options and restricted stock using the treasury stock method, except when such shares are anti-dilutive (see Note 6 to condensed consolidated financial statements).

Comprehensive Income The Company reports by major components and as a single total, the change in its net assets during the period from non-owner sources. Comprehensive income for all periods presented was the same as net income.

Segments The Financial Accounting Standards Board s (FASB) guidance regarding disclosure about segments in an enterprise and related information establishes standards for the reporting by public business enterprises of information about reportable segments, products and services, geographic areas, and major customers. The method for determining what information to report is based on the manner in which management organizes the reportable segments within the Company for making operational decisions and assessments of financial performance. The Company s chief operating decision-maker is considered to be the Chief Executive Officer. The Company operates in one reporting segment.

Business Combinations The Company recognizes assets acquired (including goodwill and identifiable intangible assets) and liabilities assumed at fair value on the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of such assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognized in earnings, after the expiration of the measurement period, a period not to exceed 12 months from the acquisition date. Acquisition-related expenses and acquisition-related restructuring costs are recognized in earnings in the period in which they are incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The Company maintains stock-based compensation plans which allow for the issuance of equity-based awards to executives and certain employees. These equity-based awards include stock options, restricted stock awards (RSAs)

and restricted stock units (RSUs) which can be either time-based or performance-based. The Company also maintains an employee stock purchase plan that provides for the issuance of shares to all eligible employees of the Company at a discounted price.

Stock-based compensation expense includes compensation costs related to estimated fair values of stock options and awards granted. The estimated fair value of the Company s equity-based awards, net of expected forfeitures, is amortized over the awards—vesting period on a straight-line basis over a weighted average period of four years for stock options, three years for RSUs and one year for RSAs, and will be adjusted for subsequent changes in estimated forfeitures related to all equity-based awards and performance as it relates to performance-based RSUs.

The Company applies the fair value recognition provisions based on the FASB s guidance regarding stock-based compensation. The exercise price of each stock option equals the market price of the Company s stock on the date of grant. Most options are scheduled to vest over four years and expire no later than ten years from the grant date. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The determination of the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by the Company s stock price as well as assumptions regarding certain variables. These variables include the expected term of the awards; the Company s expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors, the risk-free interest rate and expected dividends. The Company estimates the expected term of share-based awards granted based on the Company s historical option term experience. The Company estimates the volatility of its common stock based upon the Company s historical stock price volatility over the length of the expected term of the options. The Company bases the risk-free interest rate that it uses in the option valuation model on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining maturities similar to the expected term of the options. The Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future and therefore uses an expected dividend yield of zero in the option valuation model. The Company is required to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Company uses historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and records share-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest. The Company also considers, each quarter, whether there have been any significant changes in facts and circumstances that would affect its estimated forfeiture rate.

8

Stock Options

Stock option activity for the nine months ended September 26, 2014:

	Shares	A	eighted verage cise Price	Weighted Remaining Contractual Life (years)	Intrin	gregate sic Value (in usands)
Outstanding at December 27, 2013	1,209,319	\$	7.86	2.86	\$	3,976
Granted						
Exercised	(341,359)		5.11			
Canceled	(11,321)		14.39			
Outstanding at September 26, 2014	856,639	\$	8.87	1.95	\$	1,628
Options exercisable at September 26, 2014	856,639	\$	8.87	1.95	\$	1,628

There were no options granted by the Company during either of the nine month periods ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013. As of September 26, 2014, there was no stock-based compensation expense attributable to stock options as all outstanding options were fully vested.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company also maintains an employee stock purchase plan (ESPP) that provides for the issuance of shares to all eligible employees of the Company at a discounted price. Under the ESPP, substantially all employees may purchase the Company s common stock through payroll deductions at a price equal to 95 percent of the fair market value of the Company s stock at the end of each applicable purchase period.

Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock Awards

The Company grants RSUs to employees and RSAs to non-employee directors as part of the Company s long term equity compensation plan.

Restricted Stock Units RSUs are granted to employees with a per share or unit purchase price of zero dollars and either have time based or performance based vesting. RSUs typically vest over three years, subject to the employee s continued service with the Company. For purposes of determining compensation expense related to these RSUs, the fair value is determined based on the closing market price of the Company s common stock on the date of award. The expected cost of the grant is reflected over the service period, and is reduced for estimated forfeitures.

During the quarter ended March 28, 2014, the Company granted 303,875 RSUs, with a weighted average fair value of \$13.16 per share, and granted 160,625 performance stock units with a weighted average fair value of \$13.33 per share. The Company granted 188,275 RSUs during the quarter ended June 28, 2014, with a weighted average fair value of \$9.48 per share. During the quarter ended September 26, 2014, the Company granted 61,000 RSUs with a weighted average fair value of \$9.30 per share.

During the nine months ended September 26, 2014, a total of 98,870 vested shares were withheld to satisfy withholding tax obligations, resulting in a net issuance of 431,159 shares. As of September 26, 2014, approximately \$5.9 million of stock-based compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to RSUs remains to be recognized over a weighted average period of less than two years. As of September 26, 2014, a total of 1,045,864 RSUs remain outstanding with an aggregate intrinsic value of \$9.5 million and a weighted average remaining contractual term of 1.2 years.

Restricted Stock Awards As of September 26, 2014, a total of 47,000 RSAs remain outstanding. The total unamortized expense of the Company s unvested restricted stock awards as of September 26, 2014, was \$0.2 million.

The following table summarizes the Company s RSU and RSA activity for the nine months September 26, 2014:

		Aggreg	gate Intrinsic
		,	Value
	Shares	(in tl	housands)
Unvested RSUs and RSAs at December 27, 2013	1,256,930	\$	12,632
Granted	760,775		
Vested	(560,029)		
Forfeited	(364,812)		
Unvested RSUs and RSAs at September 26, 2014	1,092,864	\$	9,496
Vested and expected to vest RSUs and RSAs at			
September 26, 2014	865,546	\$	7,859

The following table shows the Company s stock-based compensation expense included in the condensed consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

	Three me	onths ended	Nine mo	onths ended	
	September 26, 2014	September 27 , 2013	September 26, 2014	September 27, 2013	
Cost of sales (1)	\$ 267	\$ 159	\$ 862	\$ 883	
Research and development	100	69	245	216	
Sales and marketing	119	127	334	356	
General and administrative	671	771	1,728	1,990	
	1,157	1,126	3,169	3,445	
Income tax benefit	(226)	(173)	(1,056)	(644)	
Net stock-based compensation					
expense	\$ 931	\$ 953	\$ 2,113	\$ 2,801	

(1) Stock-based compensation expenses capitalized in inventory for the three and nine month periods ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013 were considered immaterial.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Updates No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, requiring an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. The updated standard will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective and permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. Early adoption is not permitted. The updated standard becomes effective for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017. The Company has not yet selected a transition method and is currently evaluating the effect that the updated standard will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

2. Balance Sheet Information

Inventory consisted of the following (in thousands):

	September 26, 2014		ember 27, 2013
Raw materials	\$	45,085	\$ 49,515
Work in process		14,120	19,437
Finished goods	2,696		1,815
		61,901	70,767
Reserve for excess and obsolete		(6,548)	(6,825)

Total \$ 55,353 \$ 63,942

Equipment and leasehold improvements, net, consisted of the following (in thousands):

	September 26, 2014		Dec	ember 27, 2013
Computer equipment and software	\$	9,228	\$	8,280
Furniture and fixtures		2,529		2,411
Machinery and equipment		9,584		9,249
Leasehold improvements		10,733		10,583
		32,074		30,523
Accumulated depreciation		(24,008)		(21,989)
Total	\$	8,066	\$	8,534

3. Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets

The Company s methodology for allocating the purchase price relating to acquisitions is determined through established and generally accepted valuation techniques. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the sum of the amounts assigned to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed. Goodwill and purchased intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are reviewed for impairment at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. The Company regularly monitors current business conditions and other factors including, but not limited to, adverse industry or economic trends and lower projections of profitability that may impact future operating results.

To test goodwill for impairment, the Company first performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If it is concluded that this is the case, the Company then performs the two-step goodwill impairment test. Otherwise, the two-step goodwill impairment test is not required. Under the two-step goodwill impairment test, the Company would in the first step compare the estimated fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. The Company determines the fair value of each of its reporting units based on a weighting of income and market approaches. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the Company would then perform the second step of the impairment test in order to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit s goodwill. If the Company determines that the carrying value of a reporting unit s goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, the Company would record an impairment charge equal to the difference.

The evaluation of goodwill and intangible assets for impairment requires the exercise of significant judgment. In the event of future changes in business conditions, the Company will be required to reassess and update its forecasts and estimates used in future impairment analyses. If the results of these future analyses are lower than current estimates, a material impairment charge may result at that time.

Details of goodwill and other intangible assets were as follows (in thousands):

	Sep	September 26, 2014		December 27, 2013			
		Intangible			Intangible		
	Goodwill	Assets	Total	Goodwill	Assets	Total	
Carrying amount	\$ 55,918	\$ 18,045	\$73,963	\$55,918	\$ 21,708	\$77,626	

Purchased Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are generally recorded in connection with a business acquisition. The Company evaluates the useful lives of its intangible assets each reporting period to determine whether events and circumstances require revising the remaining period of amortization. In addition, the Company reviews indefinite lived intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate their carrying value may not be recoverable and tests definite lives intangible assets at least annually for impairment. Management considers such indicators as significant differences in product demand from the estimates, changes in the competitive and economic environment, technological advances, and changes in cost structure.

Details of purchased intangible assets were as follows (in thousands):

	As of Gross	Sep	tember 26	, 20)14	As of Gross	Dec	ember 27	, 2013	
	Carrying	Acc	cumulated	Ca	arrying	Carrying	Acc	umulated	Carrying	Useful Life
	Amount	Am	ortization	1	Value	Amount	Am	ortization	Value	(in years)
Customer relationships	\$ 19,000	\$	(11,949)	\$	7,051	\$ 19,000	\$	(8,764)	\$ 10,236	7
Tradename (AIT)	1,900		(979)		921	1,900		(672)	1,228	6
Intellectual property/know-how	1,600		(514)		1,086	1,600		(343)	1,257	7
Tradename (UCT)	8,987				8,987	8,987			8,987	*
Total	\$31,487	\$	(13,442)	\$	18,045	\$31,487	\$	(9,779)	\$ 21,708	

* In addition to the AIT tradename intangible of \$1.9 million, the Company is also carrying a UCT tradename intangible asset of \$9.0 million as a result of a previous acquisition. The Company concluded that the UCT tradename intangible asset life is indefinite and is therefore not amortized.

The Company amortizes its tradename (AIT) and customer relationships intangible assets using an accelerated method over the estimated economic life of the assets, ranging from 6 to 7 years. The Company amortizes its intellectual property/know-how intangible asset on a straight-line basis with an estimated economic life of seven years. Amortization expense was approximately \$1.2 million and \$1.5 million for the three months ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013, respectively and \$3.7 million and \$4.5 million for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013, respectively. Amortization expense is charged to General and Administrative. As of September 26, 2014, future estimated amortization expense is expected to be as follows (in thousands):

	Amortization Expense
2014 (remaining in year)	\$ 1,220
2015	2,813
2016	2,293
2017	1,386
2018	848
Thereafter	498
Total	\$ 9,058

4. Borrowing Arrangements

On July 3, 2012, in connection with the Company s acquisition of AIT and the refinancing of its prior credit facility, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the Credit Agreement) by and among the Company, certain of its subsidiaries, Silicon Valley Bank, U.S. Bank National Association and HSBC Bank (collectively, the Lenders). The Credit Agreement provides for a term loan in an aggregate principal amount of \$40.0 million (the Term Loan) and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of \$40.0 million (the Revolving Credit Facility), a letter of credit facility in the aggregate availability amount of \$15.0 million (as a sublimit of such Revolving Credit Facility) (the L/C Facility) and a swing line sub-facility in the aggregate availability amount of \$4.0 million (as a sublimit of the Revolving Credit Facility) (together with the Term Loan, the Revolving Credit Facility and the L/C Facility, the Credit Facility). On July 3, 2012, the Company

11

borrowed an aggregate of \$40.0 million under the Term Loan and approximately \$39.8 million under the Revolving Credit Facility. The borrowed funds were used at the closing of the Company s acquisition of AIT to finance the acquisition and repay the outstanding balance of \$3.7 million to Silicon Valley Bank as lender under the Company s prior credit facility. The prior credit facility was terminated in connection with this transaction.

The Credit Facility must be repaid in consecutive quarterly installments of \$2.5 million, with the first payment made on September 30, 2012, and with the balance of the then-outstanding principal amount due at the final maturity, which is July 3, 2016. The Revolving Credit Facility is available for the four-year period beginning on July 3, 2012. The Credit Agreement includes customary representations, warranties, covenants and events of default. The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have agreed to secure all of their obligations under the Credit Agreement by granting a first priority lien in substantially all of their respective personal property assets of these entities (subject to certain exceptions and limitations).

At the Company s option, borrowings under the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility (subject to certain limitations) bear interest at either a base rate or at the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) (with the LIBOR being adjusted for certain Eurocurrency reserve requirements, if any, as described in the Credit Agreement), plus, in each case, an applicable margin based on the Company s consolidated leverage ratio. All loans described above made on July 3, 2012 were initially base rate loans, carrying interest of 3.75%. As of September 26, 2014, the interest rate on the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility was 3.75%. The effective interest rates will be slightly higher due to the incurrence of certain loan-related costs of approximately \$1.9 million that are treated as deferred interest and amortized over the life of the loan.

The Credit Agreement requires the Company to maintain certain financial covenants including a minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio, a maximum consolidated leverage ratio and minimum domestic cash balances. On February 15, 2013, the Company and the Lenders amended the Credit Agreement in order to modify the financial covenants contained in the Credit Agreement, effective January 30, 2013. The Credit Agreement, as amended, requires the Company to comply with the following financial covenants:

a minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended), measured over the preceding four fiscal quarters, beginning as of the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2014, of 1.10 to 1.00, stepping up to 1.25 to 1.00 as of the end of each fiscal quarter beginning with the first quarter of fiscal 2015 and thereafter;

a maximum consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended) measured over the preceding four fiscal quarters, beginning, as of the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2014, of 4.00 to 1.00, stepping down to 3.75 to 1.00 as of the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 and thereafter to and including the third quarter of 2015, and 3.25 to 1.00 as of the end of each fiscal quarter beginning with the fourth quarter of 2015 and thereafter;

minimum domestic cash of \$15.0 million as of the last day of any fiscal quarter and \$10.0 million as of the last day of any other fiscal month from January 25, 2013 and thereafter;

a minimum consolidated quick ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended) of 1.10 to 1.00 as of the end of each fiscal month from January 25, 2013 and thereafter;

minimum consolidated adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended), measured over the preceding two quarters, of \$6.0 million as of the end of the fourth quarter of 2013, \$7.0 million as of the end of the first quarter of 2014 and \$8.0 million as of the end of the second quarter of 2014 and each quarter thereafter.

The Company was in compliance with all covenants for the quarter ended September 26, 2014.

The Credit Agreement contains provisions requiring the following mandatory prepayments (subject to certain exceptions and limitations): (i) prepayments equal to 50% of the net cash proceeds from the issuance of capital stock by the Company s primary operating subsidiary (or any of its subsidiaries); (ii) prepayments equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds from the incurrence of any indebtedness by the Company s primary operating subsidiary over \$250,000; (iii) prepayments equal to the net cash proceeds from certain asset sales or insurance or condemnation recoveries; and (iv) annual prepayments in an amount equal to (a) 33% of excess cash flow (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended) if the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan equals or exceeds \$20.0 million and (b) 25% of excess cash flow if the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan equals or exceeds \$10.0 million but is less than \$20.0 million.

The Credit Agreement also restricts the Company from declaring or paying any cash dividends.

As of September 26, 2014, the outstanding amounts under the Company s Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility were \$19.2 million and \$28.3 million, respectively, which are net of unamortized debt issuance costs of \$0.9 million for a total debt balance of \$47.5 million. The Company analyzed the Credit Agreement and determined that the outstanding balance of Revolving Credit Facility debt should be classified as short-term due to acceleration clauses in the agreement.

5. Income Tax

The Company s income tax provision and effective tax rate for the three and nine month periods ended September 26, 2014 was \$0.9 million and 19.6% and \$3.9 million and 33.3%, respectively, compared to \$0.4 million and 15.5% and \$0.9 million and 18.7%, respectively, for the same periods a year ago. The change in respective rates reflects, primarily, changes in the geographic mix of worldwide earnings and financial results for the three and nine month periods ended September 26, 2014 compared to the same period in 2013.

During the third quarter of 2014, the Company weighed both positive and negative evidence and concluded that a full valuation allowance on its California and Oregon deferred tax assets in the amount of \$1.6 million was appropriate. Among the negative evidence was the declaration of bankruptcy of a key customer during the third quarter of 2014 and its impact on the Company s ability to realize the benefit of the net operating losses in those states. As such, management concluded that it was not more likely than not that the California and Oregon deferred tax assets will be realized. As of September 26, 2014, the Company also maintained a full valuation allowance of \$0.6 million on one of its China subsidiaries as the Company continues to believe it is not more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will be realized. In order to reverse a valuation allowance, accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America suggest that the Company review the cumulative income/loss in recent years as well as determine the Company s ability to generate sufficient future taxable income to realize the Company s net deferred tax assets.

The Company earns a significant amount of its operating income outside the United States, which is deemed to be indefinitely reinvested in foreign jurisdictions. As a result, most of the Company s cash is held by foreign subsidiaries. The Company currently does not intend nor foresee a need to repatriate these funds to the U.S. The Company expects existing domestic cash and cash flows from operations to continue to be sufficient to fund its domestic operating

activities and cash commitments for investing and financing activities, such as debt repayment and capital expenditures, for at least the next 12 months and thereafter for the foreseeable future. If the Company should require more capital in the U.S. than is generated by its domestic operations, for example to fund significant discretionary activities such as business acquisitions, the Company could elect to repatriate future earnings from foreign jurisdictions or raise capital in the United States through debt or equity issuances. These alternatives could result in higher effective tax rates, increased interest expense, or dilution of earnings. The Company has borrowed funds domestically and continues to believe it will have the ability to do so at reasonable interest rates. The Company does not provide for U.S. taxes on its undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that it intends to invest indefinitely outside the U.S., unless such taxes are otherwise required under U.S. tax law. In 2013, the Company determined that a portion of the current year and future year earnings of one of its China subsidiaries may be remitted in the future to one of its foreign subsidiaries outside of Mainland China and, accordingly, the Company provided for the related withholding taxes in its condensed consolidated financial statements. If the Company changes its intent to reinvest its undistributed foreign earnings indefinitely or if a greater amount of undistributed earnings are needed than the previous anticipated remaining unremitted foreign earnings, the Company could be required to accrue or pay U.S. taxes on some or all of these undistributed earnings. As of September 26, 2014, the Company had undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are indefinitely invested outside of the U.S. of approximately \$57.0 million. It is not practicable to determine the income tax liability that might be incurred if these earnings were to be distributed.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company s unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):

	Nine months ended			
	September 26, 2014	-	mber 27, 013	
Balance as of the beginning of period	\$ 165	\$	109	
Increase (decrease) related to current year tax positions	180		(22)	
Balance as of the end of period	\$ 345	\$	87	

The Company s gross liability for unrecognized tax benefits as of September 26, 2014 and December 27, 2013 was \$0.3 million and \$0.2 million, respectively. Increases or decreases to interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions are included in income tax provision in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. Interest related to uncertain tax positions was immaterial for each of the three and nine month periods ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013, respectively. Although it is possible some of the unrecognized tax benefits could be settled within the next twelve months, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the outcome at this time.

The determination of the Company s tax provision is subject to judgments and estimates. The carrying value of the Company s net deferred tax assets, which is made up primarily of tax deductions and net operating loss carryforwards, assumes the Company will be able to generate sufficient future income to fully realize the income tax benefit. In determining whether the realization of these deferred tax assets may be impaired, the Company makes judgments with respect to whether the Company is likely to generate sufficient future taxable income to realize these assets. In addition, the calculation of tax liabilities involves significant judgment in estimating the impact of uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws. Resolution of these uncertainties in a manner inconsistent with the Company s expectations could have a material impact on the Company s results of operations and financial position.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various states and foreign jurisdictions. The Company s 2011 through 2013 federal income tax returns are open to audit through the statute of limitations by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company s 2009 through 2013 state income tax returns are open to audit by the California Franchise Tax Board. The Company is also subject to examination in various other jurisdictions for various periods. The Company is currently experiencing a tax holiday related to its Singapore subsidiary that will expire for tax years beginning January 2015. The Company s Singapore subsidiary recorded a net income of \$2.5 million and \$4.4 million for the three and nine month periods ended September 26, 2014, respectively.

6. Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share reflects the potential dilution that would occur if outstanding securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock.

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in computing basic and diluted net income per share (in thousands, except per share data):

Edgar Filing: ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS INC - Form 10-Q

	Three mo	onths ended	Nine months ended		
	September 26, 2014	September 27, 2013	September 26, 2014	September 27, 2013	
Numerator:					
Net income (loss)	\$ (5,262)	\$ 2,048	\$ 7,825	\$ 4,053	
Denominator:					
Shares used in computation basic:					
Weighted average common shares					
outstanding	29,477	28,451	29,242	28,265	
Shares used in computation diluted:					
Shares used in computing basic net					
income (loss) per share	29,477	28,451	29,242	28,265	
Dilutive effect of common shares					
outstanding subject to repurchase		241	261	365	
Dilutive effect of options outstanding		287	409	249	
Weighted average shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per					
share	29,477	28,979	29,912	28,879	
Net income (loss) per share basic	\$ (0.18)	\$ 0.07	\$ 0.27	\$ 0.14	
Net income (loss) per share diluted	\$ (0.18)	\$ 0.07	\$ 0.26	\$ 0.14	

The Company had securities outstanding which could potentially dilute basic net income (loss) per share in the future, but the incremental shares from the assumed exercise of these securities were excluded in the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. Such outstanding securities consisted of 575,470 stock options for the quarter ended September 27, 2013, and 268,706 and 996,495 stock options for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013 respectively. For the three months period ended September 26, 2014, all potentially dilutive securities outstanding were considered anti-dilutive, and therefore the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share was the same.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company had commitments to purchase inventory totaling approximately \$41.0 million at September 26, 2014.

The Company leases properties domestically in Hayward, California; Austin, Texas, Pflugerville, Texas; Chandler, Arizona; and South San Francisco, California and internationally in China, Singapore and the Philippines. The Company leases certain of its facilities under non-cancelable leases, which expire on various dates through 2022.

As of September 26, 2014, future minimum payments under these operating leases were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year	
2014 (remaining in year)	\$ 1,367
2015	5,710
2016	5,021
2017	4,388
2018	3,241
Thereafter	9,817
Total minimum lease payments	\$ 29,544

From time to time, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, that arise in the ordinary course of business. Although the outcome of the various legal proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company has not had a history of outcomes to date that have been material to the statement of operations and does not believe that any of these proceedings or other claims will have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

The total minimum lease payments include the Lease Agreement the Company entered into in October 2014 for 4,881 square meters of space located in Singapore. The term of the Lease is for a period of five years expiring February 2020, with an option to extend the term of the agreement for an additional three years.

8. Segment Information

The Company operates in one reportable segment and is engaged in the development, manufacture and supply of critical subsystems for the semiconductor capital equipment, industrial, flat panel, medical, energy/research and consumer industries. Multiple operating segments were aggregated into one reportable segment as the nature of the Company s products and production processes, as well as type of customers and distribution methods, is consistent among all the Company s products. The Company s foreign operations are conducted in its wholly-owned subsidiaries in China and Singapore. The Company s principal markets include North America, Asia and, to a lesser degree, Europe. Sales by geographic area represent sales to unaffiliated customers.

All information on sales by geographic area is based upon the location to which the products were shipped. The following table sets forth revenue by geographic area (in thousands):

	Three mo	onths ended	Nine months ended			
	September 26,	September 27,	September 26,	September 27,		
	2014	2013	2014	2013		
United States	\$ 82,310	\$ 76,388	\$ 282,336	\$ 244,476		
China	16,035	10.521	52,461	24,954		

Edgar Filing: ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS INC - Form 10-Q

Singapore Other	13,277 5,419	17,602 2,672	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	40,094 8,230
	\$ 117,041	\$ 107,183	\$ 393,942	\$ 317,754

At September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013, approximately \$3.9 million and \$4.5 million, respectively, of the Company s net long-lived assets were located in Asia, and the remaining balances were located in the United States.

9. Subsequent Events

On October 6, 2014, a relatively new customer, GT Advanced Technologies, Inc. (GTAT), filed for bankruptcy. This event had an impact on the Company s earnings for the three and nine months ended September 26, 2014. As of September 26, 2014, the Company believes that the outstanding accounts receivable are uncollectible, the carrying amount of its on-hand inventory related to GTAT has been impaired, and that related non-cancelable inventory commitments related to this customer should be accrued. As a result, approximately \$2.8 million of revenue that would have otherwise been recorded for shipments to GTAT during the three months ended September 26, 2014 was not recognized, \$1.6 million of account receivables was written off to bad debt expense for shipments made prior to the third quarter of 2014, and approximately \$4.6 million of on-hand and non-cancelable inventory commitments was written off to cost of goods sold in the three and nine months ended September 26, 2014.

14

ITEM 2. Management s Discussion And Analysis of Financial Condition And Results Of Operations

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-O and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2014. This Ouarterly Report on Form 10-O contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that are not purely historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including, but not limited to, statements regarding our expectations, beliefs, intentions, strategies, future operations, future financial position, future revenue, projected expenses, gross margins and plans and objectives of management. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as anticipate, estimate, intend, might, project, will, would, should, expect, may, plan, could, objective, or the negative of these terms, and similar expressions intended to predict, potential, continue, identify forward-looking statements. However, not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. These forward-looking statements reflect our current views about future events and involve known risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievement to be materially different from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below, and those discussed in the section titled Risk Factors included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2014. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements.

Overview

Ultra Clean Holdings, Inc. (Ultra Clean , our , we) was founded in November 2002 for the purpose of acquiring Ultra Clean Technology Systems and Service, Inc. was founded in 1991 by Mitsubishi Corporation and was operated as a subsidiary of Mitsubishi until November 2002, when it was acquired by Ultra Clean. Ultra Clean became a publicly traded company in March 2004. In June 2006, we completed the acquisition of Sieger Engineering, Inc. to better enhance our position as a subsystem supplier to the semiconductor, industrial, research, flat panel, energy and medical equipment industries. Ultra Clean Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd and Ultra Clean Micro-Electronics Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. were established in 2005 and 2007, respectively, to facilitate our operations in China. Ultra Clean Asia Pacific, Pte, Ltd. (Singapore) was established in fiscal year 2008 to facilitate our operations in Singapore. In July 2012, we acquired American Integration Technologies LLC (AIT) primarily to provide additional manufacturing capabilities and expertise while adding to the Company s existing customer base in the semiconductor and medical markets. We operate in one reportable segment.

We are a leading developer and supplier of critical subsystems for Original Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs) primarily in the semiconductor capital equipment industry. We also leverage the specialized skill sets required to support semiconductor equipment to serve the technologically similar markets in the flat panel, medical, energy/research and consumer industries collectively referred to as Other Addressed Industries . We develop, design, prototype, engineer, manufacture and test systems and subsystems which are highly specialized and integral to our customers products.

We provide our customers with complete solutions that combine our expertise in design, testing, component characterization and highly flexible global manufacturing operations with excellence in quality control and financial stability. Our global presence and supply chain management helps us to drive down total manufacturing costs, reduce design-to-delivery cycle times and maintain high quality standards for our customers. We believe these characteristics

provide global solutions for our customers growing product demands.

We ship our products to U.S. registered customers with locations both in the U.S. and outside the U.S. In addition to U.S. manufacturing, we manufacture products in our Asian facilities to support local and U.S. based customers. We conduct our operating activities primarily through our wholly owned subsidiaries, Ultra Clean Technology Systems and Service, Inc., American Integration Technologies, LLC, Ultra Clean Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Ultra Clean Micro-Electronics Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and Ultra Clean Asia Pacific, Pte Ltd. (Singapore).

Financial Highlights

Sales for the three months ended September 26, 2014, were \$117.0 million, an increase of \$9.9 million, or 9.2%, from the comparable quarter of 2013. Gross profit for the three months ended September 26, 2014 decreased \$5.5 million, to \$10.3 million, or 8.8% of sales, from \$15.8 million, or 14.8% of sales, for the three months ended September 27, 2013. Total operating expenses for the three months ended September 26, 2014, were \$14.3 million, or 12.2% of sales, compared to \$12.4 million, or 11.6% of sales, for the three months ended September 27, 2013. We had a net loss of \$5.3 million for the three months ended September 26, 2014, compared to net income of \$2.0 million for the three months ended September 27, 2013.

Sales for the nine months ended September 26, 2014, were \$393.9 million, an increase of \$76.2 million, or 24.0%, from the comparable period of 2013. Gross profit for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 increased \$9.0 million, to \$54.8 million, or 13.9% of sales, from \$45.8 million, or 14.4% of sales, during the comparable period of 2013. Total operating expenses for the nine months ended September 26, 2014, were \$41.5 million, or 10.5% of sales, compared to \$38.1 million, or 12.0% of sales, for the nine months ended September 27, 2013. We had net income of \$7.8 million for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 as compared to \$4.1 million for the nine months ended September 27, 2013.

We had significant sales to three customers for the three and nine months ended September 26, 2014, for which each customer accounted for 10% or more of total sales. For a further discussion, see Note 1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies - *Significant Sales to Customers* in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements above.

On October 6, 2014, a relatively new customer, GT Advanced Technologies, Inc. (GTAT), filed for bankruptcy. This event had an impact on the Company s earnings for the three and nine months ended September 26, 2014. As of September 26, 2014, the Company believes that the outstanding accounts receivable are uncollectible, the carrying amount of its on-hand inventory related to GTAT has been impaired, and that related non-cancelable inventory commitments related to this customer should be accrued. As a result, approximately \$2.8 million of revenue that would have otherwise been recorded for shipments to GTAT during the three months ended September 26, 2014 was not recognized, \$1.6 million of accounts receivable was written off to bad debt expense for shipments made prior to the third quarter of 2014 and approximately \$4.6 million of on-hand and non-cancelable inventory commitments was written off to cost of goods sold in the three and nine months ended September 26, 2014.

15

Results of Operations

For the periods indicated, the following table sets forth certain costs and expenses and other income items as a percentage of sales. The table and subsequent discussion should be read in conjunction with our condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in our quarterly report.

	Three mo	onths ended	Nine months ended		
	September 26, 2014	September 27, 2013	September 26, 2014	September 27, 2013	
Sales	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	
Cost of goods sold	91.2%	85.2%	86.1%	85.6%	
Gross profit	8.8%	14.8%	13.9%	14.4%	
Operating expenses:					
Research and development	1.6%	1.3%	1.4%	1.3%	
Sales and marketing	2.1%	2.4%	1.9%	2.3%	
General and administrative	8.5%	7.9%	7.2%	8.4%	
Total operating expenses	12.2%	11.6%	10.5%	12.0%	
Income (loss) from operations	(3.4)%	3.2%	3.4%	2.4%	
Interest and other income (expense), net	(0.4)%	(0.9)%	(0.4)%	(0.8)%	
Income (loss) before provision for income					
taxes	(3.8)%	2.3%	3.0%	1.6%	
Income tax provision	0.7%	0.3%	1.0%	0.3%	
Net income (loss)	(4.5)%	2.0%	2.0%	1.3%	

Sales

Sales for the three months ended September 26, 2014, were \$117.0 million, an increase of \$9.9 million, or 9.2%, from \$107.2 million in the comparable quarter of 2013. The increase in sales for the three months ended September 26, 2014 when compared to the same period of 2013 reflects an increase in semiconductor sales of \$3.4 million and an increase in non-semiconductor sales of \$6.5 million. The increase in overall sales in the third quarter of 2014 compared to the third quarter of 2013 is due primarily to an increase in the volume of products shipped, which is attributable to some recovery in customer demand from 2013 levels and, to a lesser degree, to the addition of a relatively new non-semiconductor customer (that subsequently declared bankruptcy in October of 2014). On a geographic basis, sales in the U.S. increased by \$5.9 million to \$82.3 million, or 70.3% of sales, for the three months ended September 26, 2014 as compared to \$76.4 million, or 71.3% of sales for the same period of 2013. Foreign sales increased by \$3.9 million to \$34.7 million, or 29.7% of sales, for the three months ended September 26, 2014 as compared to \$30.8 million, or 28.7% of sales, for the same period of 2013. The increase in foreign sales is due in part to the recovery in customer demand as well as to the addition of the new customer discussed above in Asia (that subsequently declared bankruptcy in October 2014). We expect sales to remain flat in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 as compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2014.

Sales for the nine months ended September 26, 2014, were \$393.9 million, an increase of \$76.2 million, or 24.0%, from \$317.7 million in the comparable period of 2013. The increase in sales for the nine months ended September 26, 2014, of which \$47.9 million and \$28.3 million was attributable to semiconductor and non-semiconductor sales, respectively, was due primarily to an increase in the volume of products shipped, which is attributable to some recovery in customer demand from 2013 levels and, to a lesser degree, to the addition of a new non-semiconductor customer beginning in first quarter of 2014 (that subsequently declared bankruptcy in October of 2014). Sales in the U.S. for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 increased \$37.9 million to \$282.3 million while sales in Asia increased \$38.3 million to \$111.6 million due in part to the recovery in customer demand as well as to the addition of the new customer discussed above in Asia (that subsequently declared bankruptcy in October of 2014).

Gross Profit

Cost of goods sold consists primarily of purchased materials, labor and overhead, including depreciation related to certain capital assets associated with the design and manufacture of products sold. Gross profit for the three months ended September 26, 2014 decreased \$5.5 million to \$10.3 million, or 8.8% of sales, from \$15.8 million, or 14.8% of sales, for the three months ended September 27, 2013. Gross profit for the nine months ended September 26, 2014, increased \$9.0 million to \$54.8 million, or 13.9% of sales, from \$45.8 million, or 14.4% of sales, for the nine months ended September 27, 2013. The decrease in absolute dollars of gross profit when comparing the three month period ended September 26, 2014 with the same period in 2013 is due primarily to the declaration of bankruptcy of one of our customers whereby, the cost of sales associated with the goods shipped to this customer did not have corresponding revenues and the on-hand and non-cancelable inventory commitments related to this customer of \$4.6 million was charged to cost of goods sold. The increase in gross profit when comparing the nine month period ended September 26, 2014 with the same period in 2013 is primarily due to higher sales volume, a sales mix which included higher margin products and certain improvements in operational efficiencies at our manufacturing locations in the U.S., which typically deliver lower margins due to higher labor and overhead costs, offset to a degree by the charges in the third quarter as described above related to the declaration of bankruptcy of one of our customers. We expect gross profit to be higher in the fourth quarter of 2014 compared to the prior quarter as we do not expect further charges related to the declaration of bankruptcy of one of our customers in the fourth quarter of 2014 while we expect sales to be relatively flat on a comparative basis.

Research and Development Expense

Research and development expense consists primarily of activities related to new component testing and evaluation, test equipment and fixture development, product design, and other product development activities. Research and development expense for the three months ended September 26, 2014, increased \$0.4 million, or 28.1%, to \$1.8 million, or 1.6% of sales, compared to \$1.4 million, or 1.3% of sales in the comparable period in 2013. Research and development expense for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 increased \$1.2 million, or 29.2%, to \$5.4 million, or 1.4% of sales, compared to \$4.2 million, or 1.3% of sales in the comparable period in 2013. The increases in absolute dollars for research and development expenses when comparing the three and nine month periods ended September 26, 2014 with the comparable periods in 2013 was due primarily to the timing of reassignment of existing resources to research and development activities and, to a lesser degree, to an increase in headcount.

16

Sales and Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of salaries and commissions paid to our sales and service employees, salaries paid to our engineers who work with the sales and service employees to help determine the components and configuration requirements for new products and other costs related to the sales of our products. Sales and marketing expense for the three months ended September 26, 2014 decreased \$0.1 million, or 2.7%, to \$2.5 million, or 2.1% of sales, compared to \$2.6 million, or 2.4% of sales, in the comparable period of 2013. Sales and marketing expenses for the nine months ended September 26, 2014, increased \$0.4 million to \$7.7 million, or 1.9% of sales, compared to \$7.3 million, or 2.3% of sales in the comparable period of 2013. The decrease in sales and marketing expense for the three month period ended September 26, 2014 compared to the same period in the prior year is primarily due to the benefit of an increase in employee time off taken partially offset by higher commissions on higher revenues during the third quarter of 2014. The increase in sales and marketing expense for the nine month period ended September 26, 2014 compared to the same period in the prior year is primarily due to higher salaries and commissions resulting from higher headcount and revenues, respectively.

General and Administrative Expense

Our general and administrative expense has historically consisted primarily of salaries and overhead associated with our administrative staff, professional fees and amortization of our intangible assets. General and administrative expense increased approximately \$1.5 million, or 17.7%, for the three months ended September 26, 2014, to \$10.0 million, or 8.5% of sales, compared with \$8.5 million, or 7.9% of sales, in the comparable period of 2013. General and administrative expense increased approximately \$1.8 million, or 6.7%, for the nine months ended September 26, 2014, to \$28.4 million, or 7.2% of sales, compared with \$26.6 million, or 8.4% of sales, in the comparable period of 2013. The increase in absolute dollars when comparing the three and nine months ended September 26, 2014 with the comparable periods in 2013 is primarily due to the write-off of \$1.6 million of accounts receivable from GTAT, that declared bankruptcy in October 2014 offset by a decrease in the amortization of finite-lived intangibles associated with the AIT acquisition.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), net

Interest and other income (expense), net, for the three and nine months ended September 26, 2014, was \$(0.4) million and \$(1.5) million, respectively, compared to \$(1.0) million and \$(2.7) million, respectively, in the comparable period of 2013. The decrease in net expense for the comparable periods is primarily due to a decrease in interest expense resulting from lower average debt balances during the periods presented.

Income Tax Provision

Our tax expense and effective tax rate for the three months ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013 was \$0.9 million and 19.6%, and \$0.4 million and 15.5%, respectively. Our tax expense and effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013 was \$3.9 million and 33.3%, and \$0.9 million and 18.7%, respectively. The change in respective rates for both comparative periods reflects, primarily, a change in the geographic distribution of our world-wide earnings in foreign jurisdictions with lower tax rates or tax holidays as well as certain discrete tax items in the first, second and third quarters of 2014 which increased our tax expense when compared to the same periods in 2013.

During the third quarter of 2014, the Company weighed both positive and negative evidence and concluded that a full valuation allowance on its California and Oregon deferred tax assets in the amount of \$1.6 million was appropriate. Among the negative evidence was the declaration of bankruptcy of a key customer during the third quarter of 2014

and its impact on the Company s ability to realize the benefit of the net operating losses in those states. As such, management concluded that it was not more likely than not that the California and Oregon deferred tax assets will be realized and recorded a tax charge of \$1.6 million in the third quarter 2014.

For the three and nine months ended September 26, 2014, we determined that a portion of the current year earnings of one of our China subsidiaries will be remitted in the future to one of our foreign subsidiaries outside of Mainland China and, accordingly, we provided for the related foreign withholding taxes in our condensed consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, no provision for U.S. taxes has been provided with respect to these unremitted earnings. If we change our intent to reinvest our undistributed foreign earnings indefinitely or if a greater amount of undistributed earnings are needed than the previously anticipated remaining unremitted foreign earnings, we could be required to accrue or pay U.S. taxes on some or all of these undistributed earnings.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have required capital principally to fund our acquisitions and working capital needs, satisfy our debt obligations, maintain our equipment and purchase new capital equipment. As of September 26, 2014, we had cash of \$75.1 million compared to \$60.4 million as of December 27, 2013. Our cash and cash equivalents, as well as cash generated from operations, was our principal source of liquidity as of September 26, 2014.

For the nine months ended September 26, 2014, we generated cash from operating activities of \$24.2 million compared to \$33.7 million for the comparable period of 2013. Operating cash flows in the nine months ended September 26, 2014, included \$9.4 million of non-cash activity comprised of depreciation, amortization of intangibles, stock compensation expense and amortization of debt issuance costs. Cash generated from operating activities included decreases in accounts receivable, inventory, deferred income taxes and other non-current assets of \$10.0 million, \$8.6 million, \$1.8 million and \$0.2 million, respectively and an increase in other liabilities of \$0.2 million offset by increases in prepaid and other of \$1.8 million and decreases in accounts payable and accrued compensation and related benefits of \$11.4 million and \$0.7 million, respectively. The net cash used for inventory and accounts payable totaled \$2.8 million, which reflects the decrease in inventory of \$4.6 million related to the declaration of bankruptcy of a relatively new customer in October 2014, for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 compared to cash provided for inventory and accounts payable of \$18.8 million for the comparative period in 2013 and was due primarily to an increase in expected customer demand during the nine months ended September 26, 2014 compared to the prior year s comparable period. Our cash flows from operations in any given period are largely driven by the timing of sales, the collection of accounts receivable and the payment of accounts payable.

Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 was approximately \$1.9 million and consisted of capital expenditures of \$2.1 million and the disposal of equipment of \$0.1 million in Asia. These investments are driven by the timing of our capital expenditures budget.

Net cash used in financing activities for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 was \$7.5 million compared to net cash used of \$19.9 million for the comparable period of 2013. For the nine months ended September 26, 2014, our net cash used in financing activities was due primarily to principal payments of \$36.0 million and \$7.5 million on our revolver and term loan, respectively which was offset by the \$35.5 million proceeds from additional borrowing from our revolver under our credit facility. In addition, we received proceeds of \$1.8 million related to the issuance of common stock due primarily to exercises of employee stock options offset by payments of \$1.4 million associated with employees taxes paid upon vesting of restricted stock units.

We anticipate that our existing cash balance and operating cash flow will be sufficient to service our indebtedness and meet our working capital requirements and technology development projects for at least the next twelve months. The adequacy of these resources to meet our liquidity needs beyond that period will depend on our growth, the state of the worldwide economy, our ability to meet our financial covenants under our credit facility, the cyclical expansion or contraction of the semiconductor capital equipment industry and the other industries we serve and capital expenditures

required to meet possible increased demand for our products. As of September 26, 2014, approximately \$58.9 million of non-U.S. cash and cash equivalents held by foreign subsidiaries may be subject to U.S. taxes if repatriated for U.S. operations. Of this amount, we intend to permanently reinvest all of these funds outside of the U.S. and we do not plan to repatriate these funds.

In order to expand our business or acquire additional complementary businesses or technologies, we may need to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings. If required, additional financing may not be available on terms that are favorable to us, if at all. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, our stockholders—equity interest will be diluted and these securities might have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our current stockholders. We may also require the consent of our senior lenders to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings. No assurance can be given that additional financing will be available or that, if available, such financing can be obtained on terms favorable to our stockholders and us.

Borrowing Arrangements

On July 3, 2012, in connection with our acquisition of AIT and the refinancing of our prior credit facility, we entered into a credit agreement (the Credit Agreement) by and among us, certain of our subsidiaries, Silicon Valley Bank, U.S. Bank National Association and HSBC Bank (collectively, the Lenders). The

17

Credit Agreement provides for a term loan in an aggregate principal amount of \$40.0 million (the Term Loan) and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of \$40.0 million (the Revolving Credit Facility), a letter of credit facility in the aggregate availability amount of \$15.0 million (as a sublimit of such Revolving Credit Facility) (the L/C Facility) and a swing line sub-facility in the aggregate availability amount of \$4.0 million (as a sublimit of the Revolving Credit Facility) (together with the Term Loan, the Revolving Credit Facility and the L/C Facility, the Credit Facility). On July 3, 2012, we borrowed an aggregate of \$40.0 million under the Term Loan and approximately \$39.8 million under the Revolving Credit Facility. The borrowed funds were used at the closing of our acquisition of AIT to finance the acquisition and repay the outstanding balance of \$3.7 million to Silicon Valley Bank as lender under our prior credit facility. The prior credit facility was terminated in connection with this transaction.

The Credit Facility must be repaid in consecutive quarterly installments of \$2.5 million, with the first payment made on September 30, 2012, and with the balance of the then-outstanding principal amount due at the final maturity, which is July 3, 2016. The Revolving Credit Facility is available for the four-year period beginning on July 3, 2012. The Credit Agreement includes customary representations, warranties, covenants and events of default. We and certain of our subsidiaries have agreed to secure all of our obligations under the Credit Agreement by granting a first priority lien in substantially all of our respective personal property assets of these entities (subject to certain exceptions and limitations).

At our option, borrowings under the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility (subject to certain limitations) bear interest at either a base rate or at the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) (with the LIBOR being adjusted for certain Eurocurrency reserve requirements, if any, as described in the Credit Agreement), plus, in each case, an applicable margin based on our consolidated leverage ratio. All loans described above made on July 3, 2012 were initially base rate loans, carrying interest of 3.75%. As of September 26, 2014, the interest rate on the Term loan and Revolving Credit Facility was 3.75%. The effective interest rates will be slightly higher due to the incurrence of certain loan-related costs of approximately \$1.9 million that are treated as deferred interest and amortized over the life of the loan.

The Credit Agreement requires us to maintain certain financial covenants including a minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio, a maximum consolidated leverage ratio and minimum domestic cash balances. On February 15, 2013, we and the Lenders amended the Credit Agreement in order to modify the financial covenants contained in the Credit Agreement, effective January 30, 2013. The Credit Agreement, as amended, requires us to comply with the following financial covenants:

a minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended), measured over the preceding four fiscal quarters, beginning as of the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2014, of 1.10 to 1.00, stepping up to 1.25 to 1.00 as of the end of each fiscal quarter beginning with the first quarter of fiscal 2015 and thereafter;

a maximum consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended) measured over the preceding four fiscal quarters, beginning, as of the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2014, of 4.00 to 1.00, stepping down to 3.75 to 1.00 as of the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 and thereafter to and including the third quarter of 2015, and 3.25 to 1.00 as of the end of each fiscal quarter beginning with the fourth quarter of 2015 and thereafter;

minimum domestic cash of \$15.0 million as of the last day of any fiscal quarter and \$10.0 million as of the last day of any other fiscal month from January 25, 2013 and thereafter;

a minimum consolidated quick ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended) of 1.10 to 1.00 as of the end of each fiscal month from January 25, 2013 and thereafter;

minimum consolidated adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended), measured over the preceding two quarters, of \$6.0 million as of the end of the fourth quarter of 2013, \$7.0 million as of the end of the first quarter of 2014 and \$8.0 million as of the end of the second quarter of 2014 and each quarter thereafter.

We were in compliance with all covenants for the quarter ended September 26, 2014.

The Credit Agreement contains provisions requiring the following mandatory prepayments (subject to certain exceptions and limitations): (i) prepayments equal to 50% of the net cash proceeds from the issuance of capital stock by our primary operating subsidiary (or any of its subsidiaries); (ii) prepayments equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds from the incurrence of any indebtedness by our primary operating subsidiary over \$250,000; (iii) prepayments equal to the net cash proceeds from certain asset sales or insurance or condemnation recoveries; and (iv) annual prepayments in an amount equal to (a) 33% of excess cash flow (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended) if the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan equals or exceeds \$20.0 million and (b) 25% of excess cash flow if the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan equals or exceeds \$10.0 million but is less than \$20.0 million.

The Credit Agreement also restricts us from declaring or paying any cash dividends.

As of September 26, 2014, the outstanding amounts under our Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility were \$19.2 million and \$28.3 million, respectively, which are net of unamortized debt issuance costs of \$0.9 million for a total debt balance of \$47.5 million. We analyzed the Credit Agreement and determined that the outstanding balance of Revolving Credit Facility debt should be classified as short-term due to acceleration clauses in the agreement.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures were \$2.1 million in the nine months ended September 26, 2014. The Company s anticipated capital expenditures for the remainder of 2014 are anticipated to be financed through cash from operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did not have any relations with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

18

Contractual Obligations

Other than operating leases for certain equipment and real estate and purchase order commitments primarily for inventory, we have no off-balance sheet transactions, unconditional purchase obligations or similar instruments and, other than the arrangements described under Borrowing Arrangements above, are not a guarantor of any other entities debt or other financial obligations. The following table summarizes our future minimum lease payments, principal payments under debt obligations and our purchase obligations for the purchase of inventory as of September 26, 2014 (in thousands):

						2019	
	Remainder					and	
	of 2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Thereafter	Total
Operating leases (1)	\$ 1,367	\$ 5,710	\$ 5,021	\$4,388	\$3,241	\$ 9,817	\$ 29,544
Borrowing arrangements (2)	30,844	10,000	7,500				48,344
PO commitments	40,976						40,976
Total	\$ 73,187	\$15,710	\$ 12,521	\$4,388	\$3,241	\$ 9,817	\$118,864

- (1) Operating lease obligations reflects (a) the lease for our headquarters facility in Hayward, California that expires in 2022; (b) the leases for manufacturing facilities in South San Francisco that expire in 2018; (c) the leases for manufacturing facilities in China, Singapore and the Philippines that expire in 2014 thru 2017; (d) the lease for a manufacturing facility in Singapore that was entered into in October 2014 that expire in 2023; (e) the leases for manufacturing facilities in Austin, Texas that expire in 2016; (f) the leases for manufacturing facilities in Chandler, Arizona that expire in 2015 through 2017; and (g) the leases for manufacturing facilities in Pflugerville, Texas that expire in 2018. We have options to renew certain of the leases in South San Francisco, Hayward, Austin and Singapore which we expect to exercise.
- (2) Amounts reflect principal obligations under our Credit Facility before \$0.9 million of unamortized debt issuance costs, under which \$20.0 million is outstanding under the Term Loan and approximately \$28.3 million is outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility as of September 26, 2014. The Term Loan must be repaid in consecutive quarterly installments of \$2.5 million and with the balance of the outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan due at the final maturity, which is July 3, 2016. The Revolving Credit Facility is available for the four-year period beginning on July 3, 2012; however, we analyzed the Credit Agreement and determined that the outstanding balance of the Revolving Credit Facility should be classified as short-term due to the acceleration clauses in the agreement. Accordingly, all amounts due under the Revolving Credit Facility are reflected in the 2014 column. See Borrowing Arrangements above.

Critical Accounting Policies, Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, which require us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosure at the date of our consolidated financial statements. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to sales, inventories, goodwill and intangible assets, stock compensation and income taxes. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of our judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities

that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. We consider certain accounting policies related to revenue recognition, inventory valuation, accounting for income taxes, business combinations, valuation of intangible assets and goodwill, and equity incentives to employees to be critical policies due to the estimates and judgments involved in each.

ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to financial market risks, including changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Foreign Exchange Rates

Currently, a significant majority of our sales and arrangements with third-party suppliers provide for pricing and payment in U.S. dollars, and, therefore, are not subject to material exchange rate fluctuations. Therefore, we do not expect foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations to have a material effect on our results of operations. However, increases in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies would make our products more expensive relative to competing products priced in such other currencies, which could negatively impact our ability to compete. Conversely, decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies could result in our foreign suppliers raising their prices in order to continue doing business with us.

Chinese authorities have relaxed controls of China s currency, the Renminbi, over the past couple of years and allowed the currency to strengthen against other world currencies, including the U.S. dollar. We continue to monitor any potential impact of the appreciation of the Renminbi on our operations in China as well as globally. Changes in the value of the Renminbi did not have a material impact on our results of operations for any period presented in this Form 10-Q.

Interest Rates

Our interest rate risk relates primarily to our debt which totals \$47.5 million, net of debt issuance costs of \$0.9 million, as of September 26, 2014, and carries interest rates pegged to either the prime rate or LIBOR. An immediate increase in interest rates of 100 basis points would increase our interest expense by approximately \$0.1 million per quarter. This would be partially offset by increased interest income on our invested cash. Conversely, an immediate decline of 100 basis points in interest rates would decrease our interest expense by approximately \$0.1 million per quarter. This would be partially offset by decreased interest income on our invested cash.

ITEM 4. Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act), management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this report, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e). Based upon our evaluation, we concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 26, 2014.

As required by Rule 13a-15(d), management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, also conducted an evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting to determine whether any changes occurred during the period covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Based on our evaluation, we concluded that there has been no change during the fiscal quarter covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Any system of controls, however well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the system will be met. In addition, the design of any control system is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events.

19

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, that arise in the ordinary course of business. Although the outcome of the various legal proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we have not had a history of outcomes to date that have been material to our statement of operations and do not believe that any of these proceedings or other claims will have a material effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

The cyclical and highly volatile nature of the industries we serve could harm our operating results.

Our business and operating results depend in significant part upon capital expenditures by manufacturers in the semiconductor capital equipment, industrial, flat panel, medical, energy and research industries, which in turn depend upon the current and anticipated market demand for such products, Historically, the industries we serve (in particular the semiconductor industry) have been highly cyclical, with recurring periods of over-supply of products that have had a severe negative effect on the demand for capital equipment used to manufacture such products. We have experienced and anticipate that we will continue to experience significant fluctuations in customer orders for our products through such cycles. For example, we began to see indications of a decrease in demand in the semiconductor industry beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2014. Further, we cannot predict the duration or severity of slowdowns in the industries we serve. Slowdowns in the industries we serve have had, and future slowdowns may also have, a material adverse effect on our operating results. During periods of decreasing demand for our products, we must be able to appropriately align our cost structure with prevailing market conditions, effectively manage our supply chain and motivate and retain employees. During periods of increased demand, we must increase manufacturing capacity and inventory to meet customer demands, effectively manage our supply chain and attract, retain and motivate a sufficient number of employees. If the industries we serve experience downturns, or if we are not able to timely and appropriately adapt to the changes in our business environment, our results of operations will be harmed. Also, the cyclical and volatile nature of the industries we serve make future revenues, results of operations and net cash flows difficult to estimate.

We rely on a small number of original equipment manufacturing (OEM) customers for a significant portion of our sales, and any adverse change in our relationships with these customers, including a decision by such customers not to continue to outsource critical subsystems or to give market share to one of our competitors, would adversely affect our business, results of operation and financial condition. Our customers also exert a significant amount of negotiating leverage over us, which may require us to accept lower operating margins or increased liability risk in order to retain or expand our market share with them.

A relatively small number of OEM customers have historically accounted for a significant portion of our sales, and we expect this trend to continue. As a group, three customers accounted for 74.1% and 75.0% of our sales for the three and nine months period ended September 26, 2014, and we expect that our sales will continue to be concentrated among a small number of customers. In addition, our customer contracts generally do not require customers to place any orders with us. Accordingly, the success of our business depends on OEMs continuing to outsource the manufacturing of critical subsystems to us. Because of the small number of OEMs in the markets we serve, most of which are already our customers, it would be difficult to replace lost revenue resulting from the loss of, or the

reduction, cancellation or delay in purchase orders by, any one of these customers, whether due to their decision to not continue to outsource all or a portion of their critical subsystems for their capital equipment, their giving market share to our competitors or for other reasons, such as such customer—s bankruptcy or insolvency or decreased demand for such customer—s product. We have in the past lost business from customers who have taken the manufacturing of our products in-house or given market share to our competitors. For example, we terminated our manufacturing services to FEI Company at the beginning of our second quarter of fiscal 2012. In addition, we announced in the third quarter of fiscal 2012 that one of our larger semiconductor equipment customers had decided to in-source a portion of its gas panel business. Further, since our customers generally own the designs and other intellectual property to the products we manufacturer, we cannot prevent them from licensing such designs and other intellectual property to our competitors for the manufacture of such products. If we are unable to replace revenue from customers who determine to take subsystem assembly in-house or give market share to our competitors, such events could have a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of operation.

In addition, consolidation among our customers, or a decision by any one or more of our customers to outsource all or most manufacturing and assembly work to a single equipment manufacturer, may further concentrate our business in a limited number of customers and expose us to increased risks relating to dependence on an even smaller number of customers. For example, one of our former largest customers, Novellus Systems, Inc., was acquired by another one of our largest customers, Lam Research Corporation, in June 2012. Also, in November 2011, Applied Materials, Inc. acquired Varian Semiconductor Equipment Associates, Inc., one of our former significant customers.

In addition, by virtue of our largest customers size and the significant portion of revenue that we derive from them, as well as the competitive landscape, our customers are able to exert significant influence and pricing pressure in the negotiation of our commercial agreements and individual purchase orders and on the conduct of our business with them. Our customers often require reduced prices or other pricing, quality or delivery commitments as a condition to their awarding of market share to us or the placement of orders with us in any given period, which may, among other things, result in reduced operating margins in order to maintain or expand our market share. Our customers negotiating leverage also can result in customer agreements or terms and conditions that may contain significant liability risk to us. For example, some of our customers insist that we provide them indemnification against certain liabilities in our agreements with them, including claims of losses by their customers caused by our products, which may be uncapped. In some cases, we have determined to self-insure against liability risk in our customer agreements, meaning that we may be directly responsible for high magnitude liability claims by our customers without recourse to insurance proceeds from third-party insurers. Our customers may also pressure us to make other concessions in order to preserve or expand our market share with them, which may harm our business. For example, one or more of our customers may require us to move the manufacturer of our products to geographies or locations that are closer to such customer s facilities, which could result in a cost structure that is sub-optimal, resulting in reduced margins or other risks to our business. If we are unable to retain and expand our business with our customers on favorable terms, or at all, our business and operating results will be adversely affected, or we may be susceptible to increased liability risk which, if realized, may have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows, results of operation and financial condition.

We have also had to qualify, and are required to maintain our status, as a supplier for each of our customers. This is often a lengthy process that involves the inspection and approval by a customer of our engineering, documentation, manufacturing and quality control procedures before that customer will place volume orders. Our ability to lessen the adverse effect of any loss of, or reduction in sales to, an existing customer through the rapid addition of one or more new customers is limited because of these qualification requirements. Consequently, the risk that our business, operating results and financial condition would be adversely affected by the loss of or any reduction in orders by, any of our significant customers is increased. Moreover, if we lost our existing status as a qualified supplier to any of our customers, such customer could cancel its orders from us or otherwise terminate its relationship with us, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operation and financial condition.

We are exposed to risks associated with weakness in the global economy.

We rely to a significant extent on OEM customers, whose business, in turn, depends largely on consumer spending and capital expenditures by businesses. Continuing uncertainty regarding the global economy continue to pose challenges to our business. Economic uncertainty and related factors, including unemployment

20

levels, uncertainty in European debt markets, fiscal and political uncertainty in the United States, market volatility and the slow rate of recovery of many countries from recent recessions, exacerbate negative trends in business and consumer spending and may cause certain of our customers to push out, cancel, or refrain from placing orders for products or services, which may reduce sales and materially affect our results of operation and financial condition. Difficulties in obtaining capital, uncertain market conditions, or reduced profitability may also cause some customers to scale back operations, exit businesses, merge with other manufacturers, or file for bankruptcy protection and potentially cease operations, leading to customers reduced research and development funding and/or capital expenditures and, in turn, lower orders from our customers and/or additional slow moving or obsolete inventory or bad debt expense for us. These conditions may also similarly affect key suppliers, which could impair their ability to deliver parts and result in delays for our products or require us to either procure products from high-cost suppliers, or if no additional suppliers exist, to reconfigure the design and manufacture of our products, and we may be unable to fulfill some customer orders. For example, on October 6, 2014, one of our new customers GT Advanced Technologies (GTAT), filed for bankruptcy under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of New Hampshire which we determined impaired the collectability of our outstanding accounts receivable as well as the value of our on-hand inventory related to GTAT and also resulted in a charge for non-cancelable vendor commitments.

We have significant existing indebtedness; the restrictive covenants under our credit agreement or other limitations on financing may limit our ability to expand or pursue our business strategy or make capital expenditures; if we are forced to pay some or all of our indebtedness prior to its maturity, our financial position could be severely and adversely affected.

We have significant outstanding indebtedness. On July 3, 2012, we refinanced our prior credit facility and entered into our current credit agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, U.S. Bank National Association and HSBC Bank. The current credit agreement provides for a term loan in an aggregate principal amount of \$40.0 million and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of \$40.0 million. On July 3, 2012, we borrowed \$40.0 million under the term loan and \$39.8 million under the revolving credit facility to finance our acquisition of AIT and repay Silicon Valley Bank as lender under our prior credit facility. As of September 26, 2014, the long-term portion of our outstanding indebtedness, net of debt issuance costs, under our credit facility was \$9.6 million, and the short-term portion was \$37.9 million.

Our credit agreement contains certain covenants that restrict our ability to take certain actions, including our ability to:

incur additional debt, including guarantees, or create liens;

pay dividends and make distributions in respect of our capital stock;

repurchase capital stock;

make investments or other restricted payments;

T. I. (O.).

engage in transactions with stockholders and affiliates;

sell or otherwise dispose of assets;

make payments on subordinated indebtedness; and

engage in certain mergers and acquisitions, new lines of business or make other fundamental changes. The restrictive covenants in our credit agreement may limit our strategic and financing options and our ability to return capital to our stockholders through dividends or stock buybacks.

Our credit agreement also requires us to maintain certain financial and other covenants. We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain compliance with such financial or other covenants. For example, for the measurement periods ending in November and December of 2012, we were not in compliance with the minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio, the maximum consolidated leverage ratio or the minimum domestic cash balance covenants under the credit agreement. On February 15, 2013, the Company and its lenders amended the credit agreement in order for the lenders to waive such non-compliance and to modify the financial covenants contained in the credit agreement, effective January 30, 2013. We cannot assure you, however, that we will be able to meet the financial or other covenants under our amended credit agreement in subsequent periods. Our failure to comply with these covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of all of our indebtedness, which would materially adversely affect our financial health if we are unable to access sufficient funds to repay all the outstanding amounts. Moreover, if we are unable to meet our debt obligations as they come due, we could be forced to restructure or refinance such obligations, seek additional equity financing or sell assets, which we may not be able to us on satisfactory terms, or at all.

In addition, the credit agreement has certain mandatory prepayment provisions, including annual prepayments of excess cash flow above certain thresholds. As long as our indebtedness remains outstanding, the restrictive covenants and mandatory prepayment provisions could impair our ability to expand or pursue our business strategies or obtain additional funding.

Our dependence on our suppliers may prevent us from delivering an acceptable product on a timely basis.

We rely on both single-source and sole-source suppliers, some of whom are relatively small, for many of the components we use in our products. In addition, our customers often specify components of particular suppliers that we must incorporate into our products. Our suppliers are under no obligation to provide us with components. As a result, the loss of or failure to perform by any of these suppliers could adversely affect our business and operating results. In addition, the manufacturing of certain components and subsystems is a complex process. Therefore, if a supplier were unable to provide the volume of components we require on a timely basis and at acceptable prices and quality, we would have to identify and qualify replacements from alternative sources of supply. However, the process of qualifying new suppliers for complex components is also lengthy and could delay our production, which would adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We may also experience difficulty in obtaining sufficient supplies of components and raw materials in times of significant growth in our business. For example, we have in the past experienced shortages in supplies of various components, such as mass flow controllers, valves and regulators, and certain prefabricated parts, such as sheet metal enclosures, used in the manufacture of our products. In addition, one of our competitors manufactures mass flow controllers that may be specified by one or more of our customers. If we are unable to obtain these particular mass flow controllers from our competitor or convince a customer to select alternative mass flow controllers, we may be unable to meet that customer s requirements, which could result in a loss of market share.

If we, or our vendors, are unable to procure sufficient quantities of components or raw materials from suppliers, it could influence decisions by our customers to delay or cancel orders and decisions by our vendors to fulfill our purchase orders and, consequently, have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We may not be able to respond quickly enough to changes in demand for our products.

Demand shifts in the industries we serve are rapid and difficult to predict, and we may not be able to anticipate or respond quickly enough to changes in demand. Our ability to increase sales of our products in periods of increasing demand depends, in part, upon our ability to:

mobilize our supply chain in order to maintain component and raw material supply;

optimize the use of our design, engineering and manufacturing capacity in a timely manner;

21

deliver our products to our customers in a timely fashion;

expand, if necessary, our manufacturing capacity; and

maintain our product quality as we increase production.

If we are unable to respond to rapid increases in demand for our products on a timely basis or to manage any corresponding expansion of our manufacturing capacity effectively, our customers could increase their purchases from our competitors, which would adversely affect our business.

Our ability to remain profitable and mitigate the impact on our business in periods of decreasing demand depends, in part, upon our ability to:

optimize our inventory levels and reduce or cancel orders to our suppliers without compromising our relationships with such suppliers;

reduce our variable costs, including through a reduction of our manufacturing workforce;

continue to motivate our employees; and

maintain the prices, quality and delivery cycles of our products in order to retain our customers business. We may not be able to fund our future capital requirements or strategic acquisitions from our operations, and financing from other sources may not be available on favorable terms or at all.

We made capital expenditures of approximately \$2.1 million and \$2.3 million during the nine months ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013, respectively, related to our manufacturing facilities in the United States, China and Singapore. In addition, we make strategic acquisitions of complementary businesses from time to time. For example, we acquired AIT in July 2012 for approximately \$75.3 million in cash and 4.5 million newly issued shares of our common stock valued at \$29.6 million. The cash portion of the merger consideration was financed through the credit facility described above. The amount of our future capital requirements or strategic acquisitions will depend on many factors, including:

the cost required to ensure access to adequate manufacturing capacity;

the timing and extent of spending to support product development efforts;

the timing of introductions of new products and enhancements to existing products;

the cost required to complete AIT s enterprise resource planning implementation and to migrate AIT and its subsidiaries to our enterprise resource planning system;

changing manufacturing capabilities to meet new customer requirements;

market acceptance of our products; and

our ability to identify appropriate acquisition opportunities and successfully negotiate the terms of such acquisitions.

We had \$75.1 million in cash and cash equivalents and \$11.5 million of borrowings available under our Revolving Credit Facility as of September 26, 2014. In addition, as of September 26, 2014, \$58.9 million of our cash and cash equivalents was held by our foreign subsidiaries. If these funds are needed for our operations or to fund capital expenditures or other strategic acquisitions in the U.S., we would be required to accrue and pay U.S. taxes to repatriate these funds.

Given our significant existing leverage, limited availability under our current revolving line of credit and the potential tax effects of repatriating foreign cash or other factors, we may need to raise additional funds through public or private equity or debt financing if our current domestic cash and cash flow from operations are insufficient to fund our future activities. We may not be able to obtain additional debt financing when and if necessary in a timely manner. Access to capital markets has, in the past, been unavailable to companies such as ours and there can be no assurance that we would be able to complete an equity or other financing with terms satisfactory to us or at all. In addition, equity financings could be dilutive to holders of our common stock, and debt financings would likely involve additional covenants that restrict our business operations. Any potential strategic acquisition or significant capital expenditure may also require the consent of our existing lenders. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms, if and when needed, we may not be able to develop or enhance our products, take advantage of future opportunities, including potential acquisitions, grow our business or respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirements, any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our quarterly revenue and operating results fluctuate significantly from period to period, and this may cause volatility in our common stock price.

Our quarterly revenue and operating results, including our gross margins, have fluctuated significantly in the past, and we expect them to continue to fluctuate in the future for a variety of reasons which may include:

demand for and market acceptance of our products as a result of the cyclical nature of the industries we serve or otherwise, often resulting in reduced sales during industry downturns and increased sales during periods of industry recovery or growth;

overall economic conditions;

changes in the timing and size of orders by our customers;

the loss of business from one or more significant customers, including due to strategic decisions by our customers to terminate their outsourcing relationship with us or give market share to our competitors, or due to decreased demand for our customers products by end customers;

strategic consolidation by our customers;

cancellations and postponements of previously placed orders;

pricing pressure from either our competitors or our customers, resulting in the reduction of our product prices, margins or loss of market share;

disruptions or delays in the manufacturing of our products or in the supply of components or raw materials that are incorporated into or used to manufacture our products, thereby causing us to delay the shipment of products;

decreased margins for several or more quarters following the introduction of new products, especially as we introduce new subsystems;

delays in ramp-up in production, low yields or other problems experienced at our manufacturing facilities in China;

22

changes in design-to-delivery cycle times;

inability to reduce our costs quickly in step with reductions in our prices or in response to decreased demand for our products;

changes in our mix of products sold;

write-offs of excess or obsolete inventory, including due to a customer s bankruptcy or insolvency;

one-time expenses or charges associated with failed acquisition negotiations or completed acquisitions;

an inability to control our operating costs consistent with target levels;

announcements by our competitors of new products, services or technological innovations, which may, among other things, render our products less competitive; and

geographic mix of customer orders or worldwide earnings.

As a result of the foregoing, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our revenue and operating results may not be meaningful and that these comparisons may not be an accurate indicator of our future performance. Changes in the timing or terms of a small number of transactions could disproportionately affect our operating results in any particular quarter. Moreover, our operating results in one or more future quarters may fail to meet our guidance or the expectations of securities analysts or investors. If this occurs, we would expect to experience an immediate and significant decline in the trading price of our common stock.

We have established, and as markets will allow, intend to expand our operations in Asia, which exposes us to risks associated with operating in a foreign country.

We generated approximately 29.5% and 28.2% of our total sales in international markets for the nine months ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013, respectively. Depending on market conditions, we intend to expand our operations in Asia, principally in China and Singapore. In addition, through our acquisition of AIT, we acquired a manufacturing facility in Cebu, Philippines. The net carrying amount of our fixed assets in Asia was \$3.9 million as of September 26, 2014.

We are exposed to political, economic, legal and other risks associated with operating in Asia, including:

foreign currency exchange fluctuations;

political, civil and economic instability;

tariffs and other barriers; timing and availability of export licenses; disruptions to our and our customers operations due to increased risk of outbreak of diseases, such as SARS and avian flu: disruptions in operations due to China s developing domestic infrastructure, including transportation and energy; difficulties in developing relationships with local suppliers; difficulties in attracting new international customers; difficulties in accounts receivable collections; difficulties in staffing and managing distant international subsidiary and branch operations; the burden of complying with foreign and international laws and treaties; legal systems potentially subject to undue influence or corruption; difficulty in transferring funds to other geographic locations; and potentially adverse tax consequences, including restrictions on the repatriation of earnings to the United States. In addition, due to generally lower labor and materials costs in the Asian markets in which we currently operate, a shift in the mix of orders from our customers away from such Asian markets could adversely affect our operating margins.

Our operations in Asia are also subject us to U.S. laws governing the export of equipment. These laws are complex and require us to obtain clearances for the export to Asia of certain equipment. We may fail to comply with these laws and regulations, which could require us to cease the export of certain equipment and expose us to fines or penalties.

Over the past several years, the Chinese government has pursued economic reform policies, including the encouragement of private economic activity and greater economic decentralization. The Chinese government may not continue these policies or may significantly alter them to our detriment from time to time without notice. Changes in laws and regulations or their interpretation, the imposition of confiscatory taxation policies, new restrictions on

currency conversion or limitations on sources of supply could materially and adversely affect our Chinese operations, which could result in the partial or total loss of our investment in that country and materially and adversely affect our future operating results.

We are subject to order and shipment uncertainties and any significant reductions, cancellations or delays in customer orders could cause our revenue to decline and our operating results to suffer.

Our revenue is difficult to forecast because we generally do not have a material backlog of unfilled orders and because of the short time frame within which we are often required to design, produce and deliver products to our customers. Most of our revenue in any quarter depends on customer orders for our products that we receive and fulfill in the same quarter. We do not have long-term purchase orders or contracts that contain minimum purchase commitments from our customers. Instead, we receive non-binding forecasts of the future volume of orders from our customers. Occasionally, we order and build component inventory in advance of the receipt of actual customer orders. Customers may cancel order forecasts, change production quantities from forecasted volumes or delay production for reasons beyond our control. Furthermore, reductions, cancellations or delays in customer order forecasts, which may occur for various reasons, including reduced demand for our customers products, customer bankruptcies or customer insolvency, usually occur without penalty to or compensation from, the customer. Reductions, cancellations or delays in forecasted orders could cause us to hold inventory longer than anticipated, which could reduce our gross profit, restrict our ability to fund our operations and cause us to incur unanticipated reductions or delays in revenue. Moreover, most of the products we manufacture are custom built for our customers and are therefore not fungible with products we sell to other customers. If we do not obtain orders as we anticipate, we could have excess component inventory for a specific product that we would not be able to sell to another customer, likely resulting in inventory write-offs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. In addition, because many of our costs are fixed in the short term, we could experience deterioration in our gross profit and operating margins when our production volumes decline.

23

The manufacturing of our products is highly complex, and if we are not able to manage our manufacturing and procurement process effectively, our business and operating results will suffer.

The manufacturing of our products is a highly complex process that involves the integration of multiple components and requires effective management of our supply chain while meeting our customers—design-to-delivery cycle time requirements. Through the course of the manufacturing process, our customers may modify design and system configurations in response to changes in their own customers—requirements. In order to rapidly respond to these modifications and deliver our products to our customers in a timely manner, we must effectively manage our manufacturing and procurement process. If we fail to manage this process effectively, we risk losing customers and damaging our reputation. We may also be subject to liability under our agreements with our customers if we or our suppliers fail to re-configure manufacturing processes or components in response to these modifications, which may lead to product defect claims by our customers. In addition, if we acquire inventory in excess of demand or that does not meet customer specifications, we could incur excess or obsolete inventory charges. These risks are even greater during the current extended period of macroeconomic uncertainty, and as we continue to expand our business beyond gas delivery systems into new subsystems. In the current economic environment, certain of our suppliers may be forced out of business, which could require us to either procure products from higher-cost suppliers or, if no additional suppliers exist, reconfigure the design and manufacture of our products. This could limit our growth and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

If our new products are not accepted by OEMs or other customers or if we are unable to maintain historical margins on our new products, our operating results would be adversely impacted.

We design, develop and market critical systems and subsystems to OEMs and other customers. The introduction of new products is inherently risky because it is difficult to foresee the adoption of new standards, coordinate our technical personnel and strategic relationships and win acceptance of new products by OEMs and other customers. We may not be able to recoup design and development expenditures if our new products are not accepted by OEMs or other customers. Newly introduced products typically carry lower gross margins than existing products for several or more quarters following their introduction. If any of our new systems or subsystems are not successful in the market, or if we are unable to obtain gross margins on new products that are similar to the gross margins we have historically achieved, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Interruption or failure of our information technology and communications systems could impair our ability to effectively deliver our products, which could cause us to lose customers and harm our results of operations.

The manufacture and delivery of our products depends on the continuing operation of our technology infrastructure and systems, particularly our data center located in California. Any damage to or failure of our systems could result in interruptions in our ability to manufacture or deliver products on agreed upon lead times, or at all, on a local or worldwide basis. Interruptions could reduce our sales and profits, and our reputation could be damaged if people believe our systems are unreliable. Our systems and operations are vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, terrorist attacks, floods, fires, power loss, break-ins, hardware or software failures, telecommunications failures, computer viruses or other attempts to harm our systems, and similar events. The critical components of the system are not redundant and we currently do not have a backup data center. Accordingly, while we are in the process of creating a backup data center outside California which is estimated to be completed in the second quarter of 2015, the risk associated with earthquakes, fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, and other events beyond our control is heightened.

Any unscheduled interruption in our manufacturing or deliveries would result in an immediate loss of sales and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operation and financial position. If we experience frequent or

persistent system failures, the attractiveness of our products to customers could be permanently harmed. Any steps we take to increase the reliability and redundancy of our systems may be expensive, reduce our operating margin and may not be successful in reducing the frequency or duration of unscheduled interruptions.

The success of our merger with AIT will depend, among other things, on successfully maintaining or improving relationships with AIT s customers and motivating and retaining AIT s employees, and any failure to integrate successfully the businesses of Ultra Clean and AIT will adversely affect the combined company s future results.

Our acquisition of AIT in the third quarter of fiscal 2012 was a significant acquisition to us and the largest acquisition in our history. The success of our merger with AIT will depend, in large part, on the ability of the combined company to realize the anticipated benefits of the transaction, including combined capabilities and resources, maintaining relationships with customers and, to a lesser extent, annual net operating synergies. To realize these anticipated benefits, the combined company must successfully integrate the pre-existing businesses of Ultra Clean and AIT. Our efforts to fully integrate two companies that previously operated independently have resulted in significant challenges and may continue to result in significant challenges, and we may be unable to complete the integration smoothly or successfully. The failure to integrate successfully and to manage successfully the challenges presented by the integration process and the on-going operations of the combined business may result in the combined company s

failure to achieve some or all of the anticipated benefits of the merger. In particular, like us, AIT s pre-existing business was concentrated in a small number of customers who do not have long-term purchase orders or contracts that contain minimum purchase commitments. Thus, while our acquisition of AIT gave us access to new customers, it did not reduce our customer concentration. AIT s customers may reduce or cease doing business with the combined company in favor of our competitors or taking our business in-house. The failure to maintain important customer relationships could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the combined company. The integration has also required combining personnel with varied business backgrounds and combining businesses with different corporate cultures, processes and objectives. AIT had its own unique business culture and business processes that continue to undergo change in the process of integrating the businesses of the combined company. These changes have resulted, in some cases, in employee dissatisfaction and attrition, including with respect to AIT s former senior personnel, and could result in further dissatisfaction and attrition, as well as operational inefficiencies or increased operating costs that have a material adverse impact on the combined company s results of operation and financial condition.

Other potential difficulties that may be encountered in the integration process include the following:

Complexities associated with managing the larger, more complex, combined business, including integrating supply and distribution channels, computer and accounting systems, and other aspects of operations;

Integrating capabilities from the two companies while maintaining focus on providing consistent, high quality products;

Incorporating different financial and reporting controls, processes, systems and technologies into our existing business environment;

Potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen expenses, delays or regulatory conditions associated with the merger for which we do not have recourse under the merger agreement; and

Performance shortfalls at one or both of the companies as a result of the diversion of management s attention caused by integrating or managing the companies operations.

We may incur substantial costs associated with these activities and we may suffer other material adverse effects from our integration efforts, including write-downs, impairment charges or unforeseen liabilities which could negatively affect our operating results or financial position or could otherwise harm our business. We cannot assure you that the combined company will be successful. The dedication of management resources to such integration and managing the larger combined business may also detract attention from the day-to-day business of Ultra Clean, and we may need to hire additional management personnel to manage our acquisitions successfully, resulting in increased operating costs.

We may not be able to integrate efficiently the operations of other businesses acquired in the future, which would adversely affect the combined company s future results.

We have made, and may in the future make, acquisitions of, or significant investments in, businesses that offer complementary products, services, technologies or market access. For example, we acquired Sieger Engineering, Inc. in June 2006 and AIT in July 2012. Management also evaluates other potential strategic transactions regularly with its advisors and our board of directors in the ordinary course of business. If we identify an appropriate acquisition candidate, we may not be successful in negotiating the terms of the acquisition, financing the acquisition, or

effectively integrating the acquired business, product or technology into our existing business and operations. Our due diligence may fail to identify all of the problems, liabilities or other shortcomings or challenges of an acquired business, product or technology, including issues related to intellectual property, product quality or product architecture, regulatory compliance practices, revenue recognition or other accounting practices or employee or customer issues.

24

Additionally, in connection with any acquisitions we are able to complete, we would likely face challenges in integrating the acquired business that are similar to those we may face in integrating AIT s operations that are discussed in the preceding risk factor. These challenges may result in substantial costs, the failure to achieve expected synergies or other anticipated benefits and other effects which could adversely affect our results of operations in a material way. The dedication of management resources to such integration or divestitures may divert attention from our day-to-day business, and we may need to hire additional management personnel to manage our acquisitions successfully.

Moreover, our acquisition of AIT in fiscal year 2012 could compound the challenges of integrating complementary products, services and technologies in the future. As discussed above, our integration with AIT is not yet complete, and completing the integration could divert a significant amount of management resources, resulting in less employee time and resources available to focus on negotiating and integrating new acquisitions.

If we finance future acquisitions by issuing convertible debt or equity securities, our existing stockholders may be diluted, which could affect the market price of our stock. Even if an acquisition or other investment is not completed, we may incur significant management time and effort and financial cost in evaluating such acquisition or investment, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations. Furthermore, due to limited liquidity experienced in credit markets in the past and our existing leverage, the financing of any such acquisition may be difficult to obtain, and the terms of such financing may not be favorable.

If we were required to write down all or part of our goodwill, our net income and net worth could be materially adversely affected.

We had \$55.9 million of goodwill recorded on our consolidated balance sheet as of September 26, 2014. Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair market value of net tangible and finite lived, identifiable intangible assets acquired in business combinations. If our market capitalization drops significantly below the amount of net equity recorded on our balance sheet, it could indicate a decline in our value and would require us to further evaluate whether our goodwill has been impaired. During the fourth quarter of each year, we perform an annual review of our goodwill to determine if it has become impaired, in which case we would write down the impaired portion of our goodwill. We also evaluate goodwill for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If we were required to write down all or a significant part of our goodwill, our financial results and net worth could be materially adversely affected.

Our business is largely dependent on the know-how of our employees, and we generally do not have an intellectual property position that is protected by patents.

Our business is largely dependent upon our design, engineering, manufacturing and testing know-how. We rely on a combination of trade secrets and contractual confidentiality provisions and, to a much lesser extent, patents, copyrights and trademarks to protect our proprietary rights. Accordingly, our intellectual property position is more vulnerable than it would be if it were protected primarily by patents. If we fail to protect our proprietary rights successfully, our competitive position could suffer, which could harm our operating results. We may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect our proprietary rights, and, in the event infringement or breach of our proprietary rights occurs, our competitive position in the market may be harmed. In addition, competitors may design around our technology or develop competing technologies and know-how. Further, since our customers generally own the designs and other intellectual property to the products we manufacturer, we cannot prevent them from licensing such designs and other intellectual property to our competitors for the manufacture of such products.

Third parties have claimed and may in the future claim we are infringing their intellectual property, which could subject us to litigation or licensing expenses, and we may be prevented from selling our products if any such claims prove successful.

We have in the past and may in the future receive claims that our products, processes or technologies infringe the patents or other proprietary rights of third parties. In addition, we may be unaware of intellectual property rights of others that may be applicable to our products. Any litigation regarding our patents or other intellectual property could be costly and time-consuming and divert our management and key personnel from our business operations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. The complexity of the technology involved in our products and the uncertainty of intellectual property litigation increase these risks. Claims of intellectual property infringement may also require us to enter into costly license agreements. However, we may not be able to obtain licenses on terms acceptable to us, or at all. We also may be subject to significant damages or injunctions against the development, manufacture and sale of certain of our products if any such claims prove successful. We also rely on design specifications and other intellectual property of our customers in the manufacture of products for such customers. While our customer agreements generally provide for indemnification of us by our customers if we are subjected to litigation for third-party claims of infringement of such customer intellectual property, such indemnification provisions may not be sufficient to fully protect us from such claims, or our customers may breach such indemnification obligations to us, which could result in costly litigation to defend against such claims or enforce our contractual rights to such indemnification.

If we do not keep pace with developments in the industries we serve and with technological innovation generally, our products may not be competitive.

Rapid technological innovation in the markets we serve requires us to anticipate and respond quickly to evolving customer requirements and could render our current product offerings and technology obsolete. Technological innovations are inherently complex. We must devote resources to technology development in order to keep pace with such rapidly evolving technologies. We believe that our future success will depend upon our ability to design, engineer and manufacture products that meet the changing needs of our customers. This requires that we successfully anticipate and respond to technological changes in design, engineering and manufacturing processes in a cost-effective and timely manner. If we are unable to integrate new technical specifications into competitive product designs, develop the technical capabilities necessary to manufacture new products or make necessary modifications or enhancements to existing products, our business prospects could be harmed.

The timely development of new or enhanced products is a complex and uncertain process which requires that we:

design innovative and performance-enhancing features that differentiate our products from those of our competitors;

identify emerging technological trends in the industries we serve, including new standards for our products;

accurately identify and design new products to meet market needs;

collaborate with OEMs to design and develop products on a timely and cost-effective basis;

ramp-up production of new products, especially new subsystems, in a timely manner and with acceptable yields at acceptable costs;

successfully manage development production cycles; and

respond effectively to technological changes or product announcements by others.

If we are unsuccessful in keeping pace with technological developments for the reasons above or other reasons, our business prospects, results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

25

The industries in which we participate are highly competitive and rapidly evolving, and if we are unable to compete effectively, our operating results will be harmed.

We face intense competition from subsystem and component manufacturers in the industries we serve. Increased competition has in the past resulted, and could in the future result, in price reductions, reduced gross margins or loss of market share, any of which would harm our operating results. We are subject to significant pricing pressure as we attempt to maintain and increase market share with our existing customers. Competitors may offer reduced prices or introduce new products for the markets currently served by our products. These products may have better performance, lower prices and achieve broader market acceptance than our products. Further, OEMs typically own the design rights to their products and may provide these designs to other subsystem manufacturers. If our competitors obtain proprietary rights to these designs such that we are unable to obtain the designs necessary to manufacture products for our OEM customers, our business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.

Our competitors may have greater financial, technical, manufacturing and marketing resources than we do. As a result, they may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements, devote greater resources to the development, promotion, sale and support of their products, and reduce prices to increase market share. Moreover, there may be merger and acquisition activity among our competitors and potential competitors that may provide our competitors and potential competitors an advantage over us by enabling them to expand their product offerings and service capabilities to meet a broader range of customer needs. Further, if one of our customers develops or acquires the internal capability to develop and produce critical systems or subsystems that we produce, the loss of that customer could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. The introduction of new technologies and new market entrants may also increase competitive pressures.

We must achieve design wins to retain our existing customers and to obtain new customers.

New capital equipment typically has a lifespan of several years, and OEMs frequently specify which systems, subsystems, components and instruments are to be used in their equipment. Once a specific system, subsystem, component or instrument is incorporated into a piece of capital equipment, it will likely continue to be incorporated into that piece of equipment for at least several months before the OEM would be in a position to switch to the product of another supplier. Accordingly, it is important that our products are designed into the new capital equipment of OEMs, which we refer to as a design win, in order to retain our competitive position with existing customers and to obtain new customers.

We incur technology development and sales expenses with no assurance that our products will ultimately be designed into an OEM s capital equipment. Further, developing new customer relationships, as well as maintaining and increasing our market share at existing customers, requires a substantial investment of our sales, engineering and management resources without any assurance from prospective customers that they will place significant orders. We believe that OEMs often consider long-term relationships in selecting and placing orders with suppliers. Accordingly, we may have difficulty achieving design wins from OEMs that are not currently our customers. Our operating results and potential growth could be adversely affected if we fail to achieve design wins with leading OEMs.

Defects in our products could damage our reputation, decrease market acceptance of our products, cause the unintended release of hazardous materials and result in potentially costly litigation or indemnification liability.

A number of factors, including design flaws, material and component failures, workmanship issues, contamination in the manufacturing environment, impurities in the materials used and unknown sensitivities to process conditions, such as temperature and humidity, as well as equipment failures, may cause our products to contain undetected errors or

defects. Problems with our products may:

cause delays in product introductions and shipments for us or our customers;

result in increased costs and diversion of development resources;

cause us to incur increased charges due to unusable inventory;

require design modifications;

result in liability for the unintended release of hazardous materials or other damages to our or our customers property;

create claims for rework, replacement and/or damages under our contracts with customers, as well as indemnification claims from customers;

decrease market acceptance of, or customer satisfaction with, our products, which could result in decreased sales and product returns; or

result in lower yields for semiconductor manufacturers.

If any of our products contain defects or have reliability, quality or compatibility problems, our reputation might be damaged and customers might be reluctant to buy our products. We may also face a higher rate of product defects as we increase our production levels. Product defects could result in warranty and indemnification liability, the loss of existing customers or impair our ability to attract new customers. In addition, we may not find defects or failures in our products until after they are installed in a manufacturer s fabrication facility. We may have to invest significant capital and other resources to correct these problems. Our current or potential customers also might seek to recover from us any losses resulting from defects or failures in our products. Hazardous materials flow through and are controlled by our products and an unintended release of these materials could result in serious injury or death. Liability claims could require us to spend significant time and money in litigation or pay significant damages or indemnification claims.

The technology labor market is very competitive, and our business will suffer if we are unable to hire and retain key personnel.

Our future success depends in part on the continued service of our key executive officers, as well as our research, engineering, sales, manufacturing and administrative personnel, most of whom are not subject to employment or non-competition agreements. In addition, competition for qualified personnel in the technology industry is intense, and we operate in geographic locations in which labor markets are particularly competitive.

Our business is particularly dependent on expertise which only a limited number of engineers possess. The loss of any of our key employees and officers, including our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer or any of our Senior Vice Presidents, or the failure to attract and retain new qualified employees, could adversely affect our

business, operating results and financial condition. Further, in March 2014, Gino Addiego, our President and Chief Operating Officer, resigned. If we are unable to successfully transition Mr. Addiego s role and responsibilities to one or more qualified individuals, our business, financial results and financial position could be materially adversely affected.

The challenges of employee retention has also increased during the integration process with AIT because of the necessity of combining personnel with varied business backgrounds and combining different corporate cultures and objectives, and several AIT employees, including members of AIT s senior management, have left our company. The process of integrating operations and making such adjustments could cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the activities of one or more of our businesses and the loss of key personnel. Employee uncertainty, lack of focus or turnover during the integration process may also disrupt our businesses.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we might not be able to report our financial results accurately or prevent fraud; in that case, our stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which would harm our business and could negatively impact the price of our stock.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and prevent fraud. In addition, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us and our independent registered public accounting firm to evaluate and report on our internal control over financial reporting. The process of designing, implementing, maintaining and updating our internal controls and complying with Section 404 is expensive and time consuming, and requires significant attention from management and company resources. In addition, beginning as of the fiscal year ended December 27, 2013, we are required to evaluate and report on AIT s internal controls and the attestation report we are required to obtain from our independent registered public accounting firm must include AIT s internal control over financial reporting. Integrating AIT s internal control framework into the Company and upgrading AIT s controls to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act has required substantial resources, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully or effectively maintain adequate controls over our financial processes at AIT or for our consolidated business. In addition, even though we concluded, and our independent registered public accounting firm concurred, that our internal control over financial reporting provides reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as of December 27, 2013, because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect fraud or misstatements, and our internal control may not be effective as of future periods. Failure to maintain existing or implement new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm our results of operations or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. If we or our independent registered public accounting firm discover a material weakness, the disclosure of that fact, even if quickly remedied, could reduce the market s confidence in our financial statements and harm our stock price.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Our international sales are denominated primarily, though not entirely, in U.S. dollars. Many of the costs and expenses associated with our Chinese subsidiaries and Singapore subsidiary are paid in Chinese Renminbi and Singapore dollars, respectively, and we expect our exposure to Chinese Renminbi and Singapore dollars to increase as we increase production in those facilities. In addition, purchases of some of our components are denominated in Japanese Yen and Euros. Changes in exchange rates among other currencies in which our revenue or costs are denominated and the U.S. dollar may affect our revenue, cost of sales and operating margins. While fluctuations in the value of our revenue, cost of sales and operating margins as measured in U.S. dollars have not materially affected our results of operations historically, we do not currently hedge our foreign exchange exposure, and exchange rate fluctuations could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations in the future.

If environmental contamination were to occur in one of our manufacturing facilities, we could be subject to substantial liabilities.

We use substances regulated under various foreign, domestic, federal, state and local environmental laws in our manufacturing facilities. In addition, we may not be aware of or in compliance with all environmental laws or regulations that could subject us to liability in the U.S. or internationally. Our failure or inability to comply with existing or future environmental laws could result in significant remediation liabilities, the imposition of fines or the suspension or termination of the production of our products, and thus a material adverse impact on our business.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fire, power outages, floods, and other catastrophic events, and to interruption by man-made disruptions, such as terrorism.

Our facilities could be subject to a catastrophic loss caused by natural disasters, including fires and earthquakes. We have facilities in areas with above average seismic activity, such as our manufacturing facility in South San Francisco, California and our manufacturing and headquarters facilities in Hayward, California. If any of our facilities were to experience a catastrophic loss, it could disrupt our operations, delay production and shipments, reduce revenue and result in large expenses to repair or replace the facility. In addition, we have in the past experienced, and may in the future experience, extended power outages at our facilities. We do not carry insurance policies that cover potential losses caused by earthquakes or other natural disasters or power loss.

In addition, disruption in supply resulting from natural disasters or other causalities or catastrophic events, such as earthquakes, severe weather such as storms or floods, fires, labor disruptions, power outages, terrorist attacks or political unrest, may result in certain of our suppliers being unable to deliver sufficient quantities of components or raw materials at all or in a timely manner, disruptions in our operations or disruptions in our customers operations. For example, in 2011, the northern region of Japan experienced a severe earthquake followed by a tsunami. These geological events caused significant damage in that region and adversely affected Japan s infrastructure and economy. Some of our suppliers are located in Japan and they have experienced, and may experience in the future, shutdowns or disruptions as a result of these types of events, and their operations may be negatively impacted by these events. Many of our customers and suppliers are also located in California, and may be subject to the same risk of seismic activity as described for us above.

To the extent that natural disasters or other calamities or causalities should result in delays or cancellations of customer orders, or the delay in the manufacture or shipment of our products or services, our business, financial condition and operating results would be adversely affected.

Changes in tax rates or tax assets and liabilities could affect results of operations.

As a global company, we are subject to taxation in the United States and various other countries. Significant judgment is required to determine and estimate worldwide tax liabilities. Our future annual and quarterly tax rates could be affected by numerous factors, including changes in the: (1) applicable tax laws; (2) amount and composition of pre-tax income in countries with differing tax rates; or (3) valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities.

In addition, we are subject to regular examination by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities, and from time to time we initiate amendments to previously filed tax returns. We regularly assess the likelihood of favorable or unfavorable outcomes resulting from these examinations and amendments to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes, which requires estimates and judgments. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, there can be no assurance that the tax authorities will agree with such estimates. We may have to engage in litigation to achieve the results reflected in the estimates, which may be time-consuming and expensive. There can be no assurance that we will be successful or that any final determination will not be materially different from the treatment reflected in our historical income tax provisions and accruals, which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

The market for our stock is subject to significant fluctuation.

The size of our public market capitalization is relatively small, and the average volume of our shares that are traded is relatively low. The market price of our common stock could be subject to significant fluctuations. Among the factors that could affect our stock price are:

quarterly variations in our operating results;

27

our ability to successfully introduce new products and manage new product transitions;

changes in revenue or earnings estimates or publication of research reports by analysts;

speculation in the press or investment community;

strategic actions by us, our customers or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;

announcements relating to any of our key customers, significant suppliers or the semiconductor manufacturing and capital equipment industry generally;

general market conditions;

the effects of war and terrorist attacks; and

domestic and international economic factors unrelated to our performance.

The stock markets in general, and the markets for technology stocks in particular, have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

New regulations related to conflict minerals could adversely impact our business.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act contains provisions to improve transparency and accountability concerning the supply of certain minerals, known as conflict minerals, originating from the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) and adjoining countries. As a result, in August 2012 the SEC adopted annual disclosure and reporting requirements for those companies who use conflict minerals mined from the DRC and adjoining countries in their products. These new requirements will require us to perform on-going due diligence efforts on our supply chain and require public disclosure of the nature and results of these efforts. There will be costs associated with complying with these disclosure requirements to determine the sources of conflict minerals used in our products and other potential changes to products, processes or sources of supply as a consequence of such verification activities. Complying with these rules could adversely affect the sourcing, supply and pricing of materials used in our products and result in substantial additional costs. As there may be only a limited number of suppliers offering conflict free conflict minerals, we cannot be sure that we will be able to obtain necessary conflict minerals from such suppliers in sufficient quantities or at competitive prices. Also, we may face reputational challenges if we determine that certain of our products contain minerals not determined to be conflict free or if we are unable to sufficiently verify the origins for all conflict minerals used in our products through the procedures we may implement. In addition, if we are unable to comply with these rules, we could be subject to enforcement actions by the Securities and Exchange Commission and liability under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which could result in material adverse consequences to our business, as well as significant fines and penalties.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse opinion regarding our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If any of the analysts who cover us issue an adverse opinion regarding our stock, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We do not intend to declare and pay dividends on our capital stock for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to invest our future earnings, if any, to fund our growth. Additionally, the terms of the credit agreement we entered into in July 2012 restricts our ability to pay dividends. Therefore, you are not likely to receive any dividends on your common stock for the foreseeable future.

28

ITEM 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None

ITEM 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable.

ITEM 5. Other Information

None.

ITEM 6. Exhibits

(a) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed with this current Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 26, 2014:

Exhibit

Number	Description
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

29

Exhibit

Number	Description
32.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

30

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

ULTRA CLEAN HOLDINGS, INC.

(Registrant)

Date: November 3, 2014

By: /s/ CLARENCE L. GRANGER
Name: Clarence L. Granger

Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer and duly authorized signatory)

Date: November 3, 2014

By: /s/ KEVIN C. EICHLER
Name: Kevin C. Eichler
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and duly authorized signatory)

31

Exhibit Index

Exhibit

Number	Description
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

32